## Udder shape, milkability and genetic diversity of Istrian sheep

Šalamon, Dragica

#### Doctoral thesis / Disertacija

2014

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, Faculty of Agriculture / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Agronomski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:204:823050

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-07-24



Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository Faculty of Agriculture University of Zagreb







Sveučilište u Zagrebu

### AGRONOMSKI FAKULTET

Dragica Šalamon

## Oblik vimena, muznost i genetička raznolikost istarske ovce

DOKTORSKI RAD

Zagreb, 2013.



University of Zagreb

## FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE

Dragica Šalamon

# Udder shape, milkability and genetic diversity of Istrian sheep

DOCTORAL THESIS

Zagreb, 2013



Sveučilište u Zagrebu

## AGRONOMSKI FAKULTET

Dragica Šalamon

## Oblik vimena, muznost i genetička raznolikost istarske ovce

DOKTORSKI RAD

Mentor: prof. dr. sc. Alen Dzidic

Zagreb, 2013.



University of Zagreb

## FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE

Dragica Šalamon

## Udder shape, milkability and genetic diversity of Istrian sheep

DOCTORAL THESIS

Supervisor: assoc. prof. Alen Dzidic, PhD

Zagreb, 2013

Supervisor:

Assoc. prof. Alen Dzidic, PhD Department of Animal Science Faculty of Agriculture, University of Zagreb Svetošimunska cesta 25, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia adzidic@agr.hr Ovu disertaciju je ocijenilo povjerenstvo u sastavu:

1. Prof. dr. sc. Miroslav Kapš, Redoviti profesor Agronomskog fakulteta Sveučilišta u Zagrebu, Hrvatska

dr. sc. Beatriz Gutierrez Gil,
 Postdoktorski istraživač Veterinarskog fakulteta, Sveučilišta u Leonu, Španjolska

Prof. dr. sc. Sonja Jovanovac,
 Redoviti profesor Poljoprivrednog fakulteta u Osijeku, Sveučilište Josipa Jurja
 Strossmayera, Osijek, Hrvatska

Disertacija je obranjena na Agronomskom fakultetu Sveučilišta u Zagrebu, \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2014. godine pred povjerenstvom u sastavu:

 1. Prof. dr. sc. Miroslav Kapš

 Redoviti profesor Agronomskog fakulteta Sveučilišta u Zagrebu, Hrvatska

dr. sc. Beatriz Gutierrez Gil,
 *Postdoktorski istraživač Veterinarskog fakulteta, Sveučilišta u Leonu, Španjolska*

3. Prof. dr. sc. Sonja Jovanovac, Redoviti profesor Poljoprivrednog fakulteta u Osijeku, Sveučilište Josipa Jurja Strossmayera, Osijek, Hrvatska

#### Acknowledgements

The samples and analysis were funded by national research grants provided by the Ministry of Science, Education and Sports of the Republic of Croatia 178-1780460-0407. The research stay at the University of León was supported by the Trust fund of the Faculty of Agriculture at University of Zagreb. The blood samples of the Istrian sheep from Croatia were provided by the Croatian Agricultural Agency, and the DNA samples of the Istrian sheep from Slovenia by the Zootechnical Department of Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana. I am very grateful to all the farmers of the breeders association "Istrijanka" who accompanied me during the extensive measurements and shared their time and farm treasure with me.

I would like to thank my supervisor for the effort in helping me to form this project according to my affinities, providing a great example in scientific ethical conduit, for his patience and encouragement; to Beatriz Gutiérrez Gil for her candour, professional approach and all the time dedicated to every detail during the experiments, analysis and writing; to prof. Miroslav Kapš for sharing his great knowledge and helping with the modelling; to the Committees for their advice and prompt replies. To all my Faculty colleagues who gave me a helping hand, especially doc. dr. sc. Antun Kostelić and prof. dr. sc. Krešimir Salajpal for their expertise. I am especially grateful to Bruna Tariba dr. vet. med. for her tremendous support and time.

Big thanks to my brother and all the friends in Zagreb, back home and in Leon for all those important moments in the forests, on the mountains, at the concerts, on the dance floor, with the coffee and with ice cream... and many other moments that made the following concentration and contemplation possible. I owe big thanks to Mario for his extensive help with measurements on farms. To all my teachers, mentors and TAs: the good ones, great ones, brilliant ones, as well as the ones on the other side of the scale, for teaching me many professional and life lessons, for forming my affinity towards the interdisciplinary approach and for guiding the need to understand toward realisation of my academic goals so far. To mum and dad, and to my grandparents for all the support, encouragement, investments and words of wisdom.

To my *shekh ma shieraki anni*, for his inner strength embedded in all of the moments that required some colour and sanity, his firm hand in motivation, and soothing advice. To everyone else involved in execution of this thesis, who I failed to mention.

#### ABSTRACT

External udder shape, milkability, milk production and genetic variability were investigated in Istrian sheep, to evaluate the long-term perspective of the breed in milk production and the aptitude of Istrian sheep for machine milking. Heritabilities were estimated using single trait animal models. Generally, the heritabilities for daily milk yield, somatic cell score, fat, protein and lactose content were low. The udder shape heritabilities were 0.17, 0.15, 0.63, 0.50 for full udder height, maximum udder width, cisternal part below the teat orifice, and teat angle, respectively. The udder shape traits were influenced by number and stage of the lactation, and were more favorable in herds with applied machine milking. The milk flow traits' means were influenced by the stage of lactation. According to the estimated genetic parameters for udder shape traits, the cistern size is the most suitable target trait for selection that would benefit the proper machine milking. Based on the analysis of microsatellite markers, Istrian sheep is one of the three analysed breeds with the lowest observed heterozygosities (0.684), and with an inbreeding coefficient of intermediate value (0.061). When compared to neighbouring sheep breeds, it is one of the three most distinctive breeds with a large numbers of private alleles and relatively small level of introgression. In comparison with the Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, introgression is lower, inbreeding coefficient is smaller and diversity higher in Istrian sheep from Croatia. In summary, the results show that the external udder shape of the Istrian sheep is adequate for machine milking and that the breed has high variability in comparison to other sheep breeds.

**Key words**: genetic diversity; genetic parameters; genetic variability; milk content; sheep milkability

#### SAŽETAK

Kako bi ocijenili dugoročnu perspektivu istarske ovce u proizvodnji mlijeka i njenu podobnost za strojnu mužnju, istražena je muznost, vanjski oblik vimena, količina i sastav mlijeka te genetska varijabilnost ove pasmine.

Genetski parametri za dnevnu količinu mlijeka (MY), postotak masti (FC), proteina (PC) i laktoze (LC) te somatske stanice u mlijeku (SCS) procijenjeni su iz 23.396 kontrola mliječnosti, prikupljenih za 3172 ovce u razdoblju od 2005. do 2012. godine, regresijskim modelima koristeći REML algoritam. Genetski parameteri i uzgojne vrijednosti za vanjski oblik vimena izračunati su za 750 ovaca na 6 farmi na kojima se primjenjuje ručna i 5 farmi na kojima se primjenjuje strojna mužnja. Izmjere pune visine (Fh) i maksimalne širine vimena (Mw), cisternalnog dijela vimena ispod otvora sise (Cis) i kuta kojeg sisa zatvara s vertikalnom osi vimena (Alpha) prikupljene su digitalnim izmjerama fotografija posteriorne perspektive vimena u početku, sredini i krajem laktacije 2010. godine. Na farmama koje primjenjuju strojnu mužnju izmjerene su muzne karakteristike ovaca. Testirana je korelacija BLUP (najbolja linearna nepristrana procjena) vrijednosti Fh, Mw, Cis, Alpha, trajanja mužnje (Mt), količine strojno pomuzenog mlijeka (My), prosječne (Avgm) i maksimalne (Mmf) brzine protoka mlijeka. Varijabilnost i struktura istarske ovce procijenjene su kvantitativnim i molekularnim pristupom. Molekularna raznolikost, distinktivnost pasmine, te razina introgresije određeni su pomoću 27 mikrosatelitskih biljega u usporedbi s jedanaest pasmina pramenki iz Hrvatske i Bosne i Hercegovine. Dodatno je uspoređena populacija istarske ovce u Hrvatskoj s istarskom ovcom iz Slovenije. Kvantitativni pristup varijabilnosti istarske ovce uključuje procjenu plastične varijacije i plastičnosti temeljem modela razvijenih za procjenu genetskih parametara mliječnosti.

Procijenjeni heritabiliteti za MY, SCS, PC, FC i LC bili su niski. Heritabiliteti za oblik vimena iznosili su 0,17, 0,15, 0,63, 0,50 za Fh, Mw, Cis i Alpha, redom. Broj i stadij laktacije te farma, utjecali su na izmjere vimena. Prosjeci muznih karakteristika mijenjali su se tijekom laktacije. Značajne korelacije između BLUP vrijednosti oblika vimena i muznih karakteristika bile su visoke i pozitivne za Cis i Alpha. Razlike oblika vimena i uzgojnih vrijednosti za oblik vimena između farmi koje primjenjuju strojnu i onih koje primjenjuju ručnu mužnju bile su značajne. U usporedbi raznolikosti s

pasminama pramenki iz Hrvatske i Bosne i Hercegovine, istarska je ovca svrstana među tri pasmine s najnižim opaženim heterozigotnostima (0,684), srednjim koeficijentima inbridinga (0,061). U usporedbi s jedanaest pramenki uvrštena je među tri pasmine s velikim brojem privatnih alela i relativno malom razinom introgresije. U odnosu na populaciju istarske ovce u Sloveniji, istarska ovca u Hrvatskoj ima daleko manju introgresiju, povoljniji koeficijent inbridinga i veću raznolikost. Dakle, može se reći da je genetska varijabilnost proizvodnih i funkcionalnih svojstava istarske ovce u Hrvatskoj očuvana.

U usporedbi vanjskog oblika vimena i genetskih parametara za količinu i sastav mlijeka, istarska ovca nalikuje istočnoeuropskim i mediteranskim mliječnim autohtonim pasminama koje imaju relativno visok prinos mijeka, ali nisu visoko selektirane, te ima bolji oblik vimena za strojnu mužnju.

Ključne riječi: genetska raznolikost; genetski parametri; genetska varijabilnost; kemijski sastav mlijeka; muznost ovaca

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	LIST OF TABLES	В
	LIST OF FIGURES	E
	ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	G
	1. INTRODUCTION	1
	2. LITERATURE OVERVIEW	3
	3. AIM OF RESEARCH AND HYPOTHESES	13
	4. MATERIAL, METHODS AND RESEARCH PLAN	15
	4.1. DATA AND SAMPLING	15
	4.1.1. Animals and the pedigree	15
	4.1.2. Udder shape and milkability	16
	4.1.3. Milk yield and content	18
	4.1.4. DNA sampling and genotyping	21
	4.2. METHODS AND ANALYSES	25
	4.2.1. Genetic analysis	25
	4.2.2. Analysis of udder shape and milkability	30
	4.2.3. Molecular variability analyses	32
	5. RESULTS	34
	5.1. GENETIC ANALYSIS OF MILK YIELD AND QUALITY	34
	5.1.1. Averages and trends	34
	5.1.2. Genetic parameters	36
	5.2. MILKABILITY OF ISTRIAN SHEEP	42
	5.2.1. Genetic analysis of udder shape traits	42
	5.2.2. Correlation of BLUP estimates for udder shape and milkability traits	43
	5.2.3. Udder shape traits differences of ewe means and BLUP estimates - hand and machine milking	44
	5.3. MOLECULAR DIVERSITY	47
	5.3.1. Diversity and variability in comparison with eleven pramenka breeds	47
	5.3.2. Comparison of Istrian sheep populations in Croatia and Slovenia	59
	6. DISCUSSION	66
	6.1. Environmental and genetic effects: milk yield and quality	66
	6.2. Environmental and genetic effects: udder shape traits	72
	6.3. Milkability of Istrian sheep in Croatia: udder shape, milkability	75
	6.4. Variability and structure of the Istrian sheep	77
	7. CONCLUSIONS	83
	8. REFERENCES	85
	9. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	102
10	. CURICULUM VITAE	103

#### LIST OF TABLES

**Table 1.** Pedigree characteristics of Istrian sheep from Croatia.

**Table 2.** Milk flow kinetics and udder morphometric data description.

**Table 3.** Raw means and basic statistics of variate data used in animal models.

**Table 4.** Summarized description of the eight autochthonous breeds of Croatia and the four

 local populations of Bosnia and Herzegovina sampled in this study.

**Table 5.** Markers included in the three loading panels that were designed in this study.

- **Table 6.** Variance components, heritability and repeatability for the milk yield and content traits analysed in the present study.
- Table 7. Estimated PC, LC and FC additive variances (on the diagonals), covariances (below the diagonals) and correlations (above the diagonals) between random regression coefficients.
- **Table 8.** Variance components, heritability and repeatability for the udder morphometry

   related traits in the present study of Istrian sheep in Croatia.
- Table 9. Correlation coefficients among morphometry BLUPs and milk flow kinetics' BLUPS

   studied in Istrian sheep.

- Table 10. Mean differences of ewe mean measurements, and BLUPs of udder morphometry

   regarding type of milking applied on farm of Istrian sheep.
- **Table 11.** Genetic diversity parameters estimated for the 28 microsatellite loci analysed in

   the 12 sheep populations.
- **Table 12.** Genetic variability parameters estimated for the 12 populations of sheep studied,based on the analysis of the 27 microsatellite markers.
- Table 13. Genetic differentiation parameters estimated for the 12 populations of sheep

   studied using of 27 microsatellite markers.
- **Table 14.** Global AMOVA results for the 12 population and results of the nested AMOVA performed by grouping the sheep geographically<sup>a</sup> and utilitywise<sup>b</sup>.
- Table 15. Proportion of membership for the 12 sheep populations across the clusters

   identified in the assignment analysis.
- **Table 16.** Genetic diversity parameters estimated for the 28 microsatellite loci (more than95% genotyping success) analysed in the ISTc, ISTs, LIK and KRK.
- **Table 17.** Genetic variability parameters estimated for ISTc, ISTs, KRK and LIK populations,based on the analysis of the 24 microsatellite markers.
- Table 18. Genetic differentiation parameters estimated for ISTc, ISTs, KRK and LIK, on the basis of 24 microsatellite markers.

 Table 19. Proportion of membership for the four sheep populations across the three clusters identified in the assignment analysis.

#### **LIST OF FIGURES**

- Figure 1. Udder shape measurements that were taken from the photographs of Istrian sheep.
- **Figure 2.** Structure of milk yield and content data in respect to the number of records through lactation over 15 day intervals.
- **Figure 3.** Geographical locations of the eight autochthonous breeds of Croatia, and the four local populations of Bosnia and Herzegovina sampled in this study.
- **Figure 4.** Changes of protein content additive and phenotypic variance, and heritability through days of lactation.
- **Figure 5.** Changes of lactose content additive and phenotypic variance, and heritability through days of lactation.
- **Figure 6.** Changes of fat content additive and phenotypic variance, and heritability through days of lactation.
- **Figure 7.** Spatial representation of the 12 populations of sheep analysed based on the results of the factorial correspondence analysis of 341 individual and 27-locus genotypes.
- **Figure 8.** Graphical representation of the results of the structure population analysis used to determine the true number of clusters (K) of the sheep populations analysed in this work.

- **Figure 9.** Graphical presentation of the clustering outcome suggested by the Bayesian analysis performed to assess the structure of the studied populations at K=12.
- **Figure 10.** Spatial representation of 103 individuals of the four populations of sheep analysed based on the results of the factorial correspondence analysis for 24-locus genotypes.
- **Figure 11.** Graphical representation of the results of the structure population analysis used to determine the true number of clusters (K) of the sheep populations analysed in this work.
- **Figure 12.** Graphical presentation of the clustering outcome suggested by the Bayesian analysis performed to assess the structure of the four studied populations at K=3.

#### ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

A - The additive genetic relationship matrix
Alpha – Angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder
Alpha-l – Angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder on the left udder half
Alpha-r - Angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder on the right udder half
AMOVA - Analysis of molecular variance
Avgm - Average milk flow

BLUP – Best linear unbiased predictionBPRC - Breeding plans for sheep in the Republic of Croatia (Mioč *et al.*, 2011)

CAA – Croatian Agriculture Agency
Cis – Height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice
Cl - Height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice of the left udder half
Cr - Height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice of the right udder half
CRE – Cres Island sheep

DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep

EU - European Union

FAO - Food and Agriculture Organisation

FC – Fat content (%)

Fh - Full udder height

- Fst Pair-wise genetic distances
- F<sub>is</sub> Coefficients of inbreeding

h<sup>2</sup> – Heritability

He - Expected heterozygosity

Ho - Observed heterozygosity

HW - Hardy-Weinberg (equilibrium)

I - identity matrix

ICAR - International Committee for Animal Recording ISAG – International society for animal genetics IST - Istrian sheep ISTc - Istrian sheep population in Croatia ISTs - Istrian sheep population in Slovenia IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature

K - Number of inferred clusters in structure analysis KRK – Krk island sheep KUP - Kupres pramenka sheep

LC – Lactose content (%) LIK – Lika pramenka sheep

Mmf - Peak flow rate mtDNA – Mitochondrial DNA Mt – Machine milking time Mw – Maximum udder width My – Machine milking yield MY – Daily milk yield

p<sup>2</sup> - Plasticity
PAG – Pag Island sheep
PC - Protein content (%)
PCR – Polymerase chain reaction
PIC - Polymorphic information content
PRI - Privor pramenka sheep

r<sup>2</sup> - Repeatability RAB – Rab Island sheep REML - Restricted maximum likelihood algorithm RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda sheep

SCC - Somatic cell count

- SCS Somatic cell score (Ali and Shook, 1980)
- STO Hum/Stolac pramenka sheep
- TD Test Day (record)
- V<sub>a</sub> Additive genetic variance component of population for a trait
- $\mathbf{V}_d-\text{Dominance variance component}$
- Vi Individual variance component
- $V_{ie}-Interaction \ or \ epistatic \ variance \ component$
- V<sub>p</sub> Phenotype variance component
- $V_{pe}-Permanent$  environment variance component, plastic variance
- VLA- Vlasic/Travnik/Dubska pramenka sheep
- WW2 Second World War

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Istrian sheep is autochthonous and almost exclusive breed in the sheep dairy production of Istrian County, and essential for the identity and development of the County through high-quality products, primarily the hard artisanal sheep cheese. Profound knowledge about the genetic variability, milk production genetic parameters, as well as details on machine milking and udder traits of such a breed would benefit the future of the breed, but also of the County.

Loss of farm animal genetic diversity was on the rise during the last 50 years, as the spread of a few highly developed breeds started to threaten the existence of well adapted local breeds either by cross-breeding, which is allowed for endangered Istrian sheep according to Breeding plans for sheep in the Republic of Croatia (BPRC, Mioč et al., 2011), or by substitution. For more than 30 percent of the livestock breeds in the world the situation is unknown, and 36% of known sheep breeds are now endangered or extinct. Marginal and transitional areas with harsh environment, often used for low-input sheep farming, are predominantly the ones affected by loss of farm animal genetic diversity. Knowledge of genetic variability of autochthonous Mediterranean sheep breeds is important for the sustainable use and development of native sheep populations. Protection and conservation of the sheep breeds, considered to be national cultural treasure in Croatia, should be easier for the breeds with high socio-cultural merit, especially if it is connected to economic value. Moreover, genetic variability is important for the future of sheep dairy production, as it enables adaptation to environment/market change. Because of the dynamic past of the Istrian sheep breed since the Second World War (WW2), it is important to estimate its genetic variability today.

Dairy sheep have been farmed traditionally in the Mediterranean and Middle Eastern countries, and the current farming systems vary from extensive to intensive depending on the economic relevance of their products, specific environment and breed. The milk is mainly used for cheese production, therefore milk content traits are very important, and increasing milk yield is still the most profitable breeding objective for several breeds. Furthermore, other traits related to more efficient milk production are gaining interest for selection: machine milking ability and udder morphology, resistance to mastitis, and the fatty acid composition reflecting the nutritional value of the milk. Currently implemented breeding programs in different countries have achieved genetic gains for milk yield and somatic cell count, however implementing further selection goals such as stated above depends on recording cost and organisational effort, and which vary from breed to breed. According to BPRC, udder morphology is economically important in Istrian sheep. Nonetheless, guidelines or goals are not specified so far, nor genetic parameters estimated. Although the implementation of udder scoring techniques was considered, it would require certain amount of organisational effort in technician training for on-field implementation.

Therefore, this thesis was designed in order to help farmers towards time and cost efficient production of Istrian sheep by providing information on milkability and udder morphometry. Moreover, the goal was to provide detailed information required for more efficient breeding programs, as well as to assess the genetic variability of the breed required for adaptation of the animals to all the breeding demands. Additionally, a new method of udder morphometry appraisal which does not require skilled technicians on field and is time effective, was applied in production conditions.

#### **2. LITERATURE OVERVIEW**

#### 2.1. Istrian sheep

Istrian sheep (IST) is an autochthonous protected breed (Ćinkulov *et al.*, 2008), with a registered population of 2 515 animals on 38 farms in Croatia, which makes it the second smallest autochthonous sheep population in Croatia (Mulc *et al.*, 2012). It makes 5% of the total number of sheep included in an approved selection program of the Croatian Agricultural Agency (CAA). In comparison, the most prominent autochthonous cheese production breed in Croatia, Pag island sheep (PAG), constitutes about 10% of the sheep registered population. Although it was formed as a multipurpose breed, Istrian sheep in Croatia is predominately used for dairy production, due to its relatively high yield of high quality milk. It was reported to have an average production of 193.82 kg/ewe in 179 days of lactation, including the 58 days of suckling. During the milking period it produced 1.04 kg/day of milk containing 7.15% of fat and 5.88% of proteins (Mulc *et al.*, 2012). Most of ewe milk is processed into hard artisanal cheese and crude on small family cheese dairies, and lesser amounts are sold for industrial cheese production.

The breed is classified as endangered according to FAO, EU and IUCN categorisation and potentially endangered according to the national classification (Barać *et al.*, 2011). Istrian County in Croatia with its recognizable Northern-Adriatic karstic landscape offers a habitat of high ecological value for the rearing of the autochthonous regional Istrian sheep. Since these sheep are reared in extensive and semi-extensive conditions on most of the farms, using predominately natural pasture (Mediterranean to sub-Mediterranean), they are important in prevention of succession of agricultural land due to vegetation overgrowth. Physiology and long-legged phenotype of Istrian sheep show good adaptation to the karstic habitat conditions.

Besides naturally occurring geography and isolation, important aspects of the history of the Istrian sheep breed include diverse political and economic changes, which influenced the borders, management practices, such as horizontal and vertical transhumance, and the controlled and uncontrolled crossbreeding (Böhm, 2004). Today, the initial breed population is fragmented in reproductively isolated sub-populations in Italy (1 000 animals), Slovenia (1 500 animals) and Croatia (2 515 animals).

Dairy sheep production is an important agricultural activity in Istria County, with 2 234 milking ewes on 34 farms, of exclusively Istrian sheep breed, under selection control

(Mulc *et al.*, 2012). This small number of animals is crucial for local production/income, but is clashing with the other socio-economic goals of the region such as tourism. Nevertheless, the hard artisanal sheep cheese is of high quality (Samaržija *et al.*, 2003) and its limited production keeps a relative high price on local and tourist market even though the product at present does not yet have a protected denomination of origin. Industrial cheese production is not developed in the region and Istrian sheep cheese is not recognized as an export product.

Several more farms rearing this breed are present in three other Counties (Ličkosenjska, Varaždinska and Primorsko-goranska) showing that this breed is recognised as a valuable autochthonous dairy breed. Average milk production of Istrian sheep in year 2012 was 220.68 kg per lactation, which is the result of the development of applied management techniques through breeders association "Istrijanka". Selection is carried out on recorded milk yield and lactation yield estimates standardised to 180 days of lactation. Estimated breeding values for milk yield and protein and fat content are published yearly for ewes in Annual reports of the CAA. BPRC also publishes ram breading values where BLUP for protein content is valued twice as much as fat BLUP. The dissemination of the best animals is achieved through yearling sales between the breeders. Since there is no artificial insemination applied, herd connectivity can be assumed to be low. The production is extensive or semiextensive, with most of the farms traditionally counting about 40 animals. Average herd size is 55 animals (Mulc et al., 2012), only few of them have more than 200 animals. Herd size limitation is due to milking effort, and farms that apply hand milking tend to be smaller. Also, most of the breeders keep the Istrian dairy sheep only as an additional household income source.

In semi extensive systems where grazing represents an important portion of feeding, the increasing trend of milk production is lower and irregular because of annual variations in herbage availability to which this systems are very sensitive (Barillet *et al.*, 2001).

#### 2.2. Istrian sheep milk production

Istrian sheep shows good potential for milk production. It has higher milk yield and longer lactation than Pag sheep, which is the most prominent autochthonous sheep in dairy production in Croatia (Mulc *et al.*, 2012). Comparisons of Istrian sheep in Slovenia with Slovenian autochthonous dairy sheep show that the potential of Istrian sheep should not be neglected because of their favourable protein and fat content (Komprej *et al.*, 2009)

throughout lactation and better persistence of lactation, but lower daily milk yields (Komprej *et al.*, 2003).

Genetic and environmental effects on milk quantity and production were investigated only recently for Istrian sheep in Croatia. General linear models showed that litter size influences daily milk yield and fat percentage, number of lactation showed significant influence on daily milk yield and protein percentage, and season of lambing showed significant influence on all three investigated parameters (Vrdoljak et al., 2012). Heritabilities were reported for daily milk (0.15), fat (0.07) and protein (0.013) yields as well as fat (0.07) and protein (0.015)percentages using single-trait repeatability fixed regression models (Špehar et al., 2012). Test day (TD) record collecting under the International Rules for Milk Sheep Recording (ICAR, 2003) is used in Istrian sheep, with records collected monthly under an alternate morning/evening system. Lactation is standardised to 180 days and the best producing ewes are announced in yearly public reports. Traditional approach of using lactation records is criticized because it does not balance out non-genetic effects on milk production, the goodness of the standardisation depends on the quality of milk recording with regard to temporal aspects. As TD measurements are frequently collected at highly variable time periods due to animal management, consequent inconsistencies are implied because standardisation of yields depends on the lactation stage at which samples were collected from each individual animal. Furthermore, substantial percentages of extensively collected and processed samples data are not usable due to lack of the minimal number of TD records for standardisation. Models using test day records attempt to account for systematic, environmental and genetic effects directly where they are expressed: on the day of recording. In this manner, removal of abnormal measures is enabled and more information can be used to assess the production of investigated trait. Numerous studies have dealt with the use of TD records as an alternative to standardised lactation yields in cows, goats and in most of the important dairy sheep breeds (Serrano et al., 2001).

#### 2.3. Machine milking and milkability

Unlike other countries, where machine milking of ewes started during 1960s (Kulinová *et al.*, 2010) and the physiological reactions of sheep breeds to machine milking were investigated from the 1970s (Tančin *et al.*, 2009), Croatia started to develop interest on machine milking only recently (Dzidic *et al.*, 2004). Machine milking in Istrian sheep is

present to some extent, unlike in other breeds of autochthonous dairy sheep in Croatia, which are milked almost exclusively by hand. In the last decades the number of sheep farms with machine milking is increasing, therefore it is important to know if the autochthonous Istrian sheep is suitable for machine milking. Benefits of machine milking of ewes are maximal milk yield of better hygienic properties than properties of hand-milked milk, and easier stripping (Dzidic, 2013).

Milkability can be evaluated by analysis of the milk flow curves and milk flow parameters that describe the physiological response of ewe to machine milking (Mayer *et al.*, 1989; Bruckmaier *et al.*, 1997), and by analysis of udder morphometry (Labuissier 1988; Fernandez *et al.*, 1995; Rovai *et al.*, 1999). Milk flow kinetics is related to milk production (Rovai *et al.*, 2002) especially in breeds that are not selected for high milk yields (Mačuhová *et al.*, 2008) because of importance of the milk ejection reflex for complete milk removal (Tančin and Bruckmaier, 2001).

Effective milkability depends on udder morphology (Labussiere, 1988) and is important for sustainable milk production because it affects functional life span of the animals (Casu *et al.*, 2006). Research shows that machine milking, when applied to the udder with appropriate morphology has positive effects on udder health and milk quality, namely reduction of subclinical and clinical mastitis in the animals (Fernandez *et al.*, 1997; Marie-Etancelin *et al.*, 2001; Bergonier *et al.*, 2003; Legarra and Ugarte 2005).

#### 2.4. Udder morphology and milkability

The sheep mammary gland is an exocrine epithelial gland constituted of the tubuloalveolar parenchyma with alveoli and well differentiated cisterns, and the stroma. While the parenchyma is a secretory part of the gland, the stroma is formed by other complementary tissues such as blood and lymph vessels and adipose, connective and nervous tissues. Milk secretion is described as transformation of the lactocyte into the product (milk), which develop during pregnancy and early lactation under neuro-endocrine and autocrine system control (Caja *et al.*, 2000).

Milk is stored in two anatomical compartments: alveolar (alveolar milk fraction) and cisternal (cisternal milk fraction). The cisternal fraction is the milk already transferred from alveoli to cistern, and is immediately obtainable for the milking. In dairy sheep it can represent more than 40% of total milk yield after 12-hour interval. Animals with larger cisterns are considered to be more efficient milk producers. Alveolar milk fraction is milk

stored in the alveoli. It is released gradually to cisterns during the interval between the milking. After the cisterns have been filled, milk remaining in the alveoli is the fraction that can only be obtained when milk ejection reflex (elimination of the alveolar milk due to oxytocin) occurs before or during the milking (Marnet and McCusic, 2001).

Relationship between udder shape characteristics and milking performance in dairy ewes was investigated since the 1970s (Sagi and Morag, 1974; Gootwine et al., 1980) as an effort to adapt the ewe to machine milking. Labussière (1988) proposed that the use of morphology selection criteria benefit the milking ability of ewes. He declared the need of vertically implanted teats at the lowest point of the cistern, the need to introduce improved udder traits in the selection objectives of ovine breeding schemes, which was addressed in selection programs in the Mediterranean countries only a decade later (De La Fuente et al., 1996; Casu et al., 2006; Marie-Etancelin et al., 2006). The reason for the increased interest on dairy sheep udder in the recent decade and new breeding schemes was "baggy udder", found in sheep selected for high milk yield. In those sheep, the cisternal part of the udder below the teat orifice is enlarged, as is the angle between the teat and the vertical axis of the udder (Fernandez et al., 1997; Marie-Etancelin et al., 2005). Milking of these "baggy udders" is not efficient because part of the cisternal milk remains below the teat orifice unless the milker applies manual manipulation of the udder during stripping (Bruckmaier et al., 1997; Bruckmaier and Blum, 1998). Additionally, horizontally implanted teats cannot hold the weight of the milking unit, and it tends to fall off. That kind of additional manipulation during milking prolongs the total milking time of the herd, with milking already being one of the most time-demanding procedures on ewe milk farms. It can also lead to an inadequately milked udder that is undesired for udder health. Depending on the breed, incomplete milk removal during milking can be marked in the total daily yield of the herd. Therefore, the mammary gland morphology is an important factor in determining the aptitude for the machine milking of ewes. Recent findings in non-selected local dairy sheep breeds in Greece report udder morphology that is adequate for the machine milking, and worth conserving through selection plans (Gelasakis et al., 2012).

Including udder traits of selective interest as selection goals is limited due to the recording cost in relation to the cost of the dairy ewe product. Nevertheless, an appraisal method for udder traits based on 9-point linear scales was first proposed for the Churra breed (De La Fuente *et al.*, 1996) and was later adapted for other dairy breeds (Fernandez *et al.*, 1997; Serrano *et al.*, 2002; Legarra and Ugarte 2005; Marie Etancelin *et al.*, 2005; Casu *et al.*, 2006). This evaluation method for teat placement, udder depth, udder cleft and udder

attachment requires high repeatabilities of classifiers, reliability and objectiveness. It also requires considerable organisational/financial effort with skilled appraisal technicians covering the farming area. In France and Italy only primiparous ewes are scored for udder shape. In addition to scoring, udder shape was measured in different countries, such as France, Italy, Spain, Germany, Slovakia and Czech Republic. Results for genetic evaluation based on measurements were for Lacaune and Sarda breeds until the year 2009. In order to lessen the cost of trained technicians, use of digital pictures of the posterior view of the udder for digital measuring of udder shape was proposed (Dzidic *et al.*, 2009).

Udder shape and milkability in the Istrian sheep are currently not well known. However, research on Istrian sheep crossbreeds shows that animals with high percentage of Istrian sheep genetic background shows udder shape that is suitable for the machine milking (Dzidic *et al.*, 2004; 2009).

#### 2.5. Genetic variability and improvement of the breed

#### 2.5.1. Molecular approach

Genetic variability has not been investigated in Istrian sheep so far. This knowledge is very important for the sustainable long-term production of this ovine breed because variability enables adaptation of the animals to the changes in the environment and in the market demand (Bozzi *et al.*, 2009).

The isolation of the three existing subpopulations of Istrian sheep started with the closing of the state borders during the WW2 when 14 000 individuals in total were recorded (Böhm, 2004). Another reduction of population occurred during the Croatian War of Independence, leaving the estimated population of about 1 000 animals. This kind of events could decrease genetic variability due to drift, population fragmentation, bottleneck effects and inbreeding (Halliburton, 2004). However, unlike in the other autochthonous breeds in Croatia with similar history, in the Croatian population of the Istrian sheep, two rams per 40 ewes are used and are replaced biannually (Mulc *et al.*, 2012). This kind of scheme results in growth of the effective number of the population in comparison to other sheep populations, and it is possible that the negative effects on variability are counteracted. To investigate the variability of the Istrian sheep, we chose to compare molecular genetic variability of Istrian sheep from Croatia with local populations from Croatia and from Bosnia and Herzegovina, as well as with Istrian sheep from Slovenia. The studied populations are of pramenka type,

which is the Bosnian, Croatian and Serbian name descriptive for open fleece of sheep breeds with mixed wool, included in the Zackel/Valachian phyletic sheep group (Draganescu and Grosu, 2010). Eight breeds representing almost completely the sheep production of the Mediterranean part of Croatia are compared in this thesis: Istrian sheep (IST), Krk island sheep (KRK), Rab island sheep (RAB), Cres island sheep (CRE), Lika pramenka sheep (LIK), Pag island sheep (PAG), Dalmatian pramenka (DAL) and Dubrovnik Ruda sheep population (RUD). Additional four multipurpose pramenka breeds included in this study graze more than 50% of the total agricultural areas in low-input highland systems of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and are currently stable at about one million sheep: Kupres pramenka (KUP), Vlasic/Travnik/Dubska pramenka (VLA), Privor pramenka (PRI), and Hum/Stolac pramenka (STO) sheep. The high level of phenotypic diversity within these populations (Böhm, 2004) and the large phenotypic differences among the different breeds studied here (Posavi et al., 2003; Brka et al., 2007) suggest high levels of genetic diversity within populations, as well as high levels of genetic differentiation among them. Differentiation and neutral nuclear diversity studies are scarce and have been reported only in a limited number of these pramenka populations (Bradic et al., 2003; Lawson-Handley et al., 2007; Ćinkulov et al., 2008) using different sets of markers, which makes comparison of results within breeds and with other breeds difficult (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2011). Ancestral origin using mtDNA and Y chromosome data has also been previously investigated in different pramenka breeds (Bradic et al., 2005; Ivanković et al., 2005; Ferencakovic et al., 2013). Assessment of genetic diversity using nuclear data for setting the conservation priorities is a standardised method for estimating the genetic diversity of different ruminant populations in many countries (Baumung et al., 2004; Ligda et al., 2009; Barreta et al., 2012). Microsatellite markers are widely used in the study of genetic variability and population structure due to their high level of polymorphism, high mutation rates and wide presence in the eukaryote genome (Ligda et al., 2009). A great number of European sheep breeds were assessed using the FAO recommended markers (FAO 2004, 2007; Ligda et al., 2009; Tapio et al., 2010). They enable reliable genetic evaluation of structure, differentiation and admixture (Tapio et al., 2010). Quantified estimations using microsatellite markers can point out conservation priority populations, breeds and herds as well as help with formulation and implementation of the breeding, conservation and management policies (Arora et al., 2011). A small number of published articles deal with genetic structure and variability of the Istrian sheep (Ivanković et al., 2005; Lawson Handley et al., 2007; Ćinkulov et al., 2008).

#### 2.5.2. Quantitative approach

Additionally, variability of the Istrian sheep in Croatia using a quantitative approach is explored. This approach enables understanding how genes influence phenotype, fitness and population dynamics, when the relatedness between individuals within a population is known. The genome and the environment are two interacting factors that act on the development of an animal and phenotype expression (Scheiner, 1993). Genetic variation for a fixed phenotype has been hypothesized to be favoured in stabile environments. Besides genetic variation for a selected phenotype (V<sub>a</sub>) and phenotypic plasticity, an environmentally induced phenotypic change that occurs within an organism's lifetime is also likely to play an important role in the process of diversification (West-Eberhad, 1989). Recent evidence suggests that most of the environmentally induced phenotypic variation exhibited by organisms is selectively advantageous in wildlife species. Thus, phenotypic plasticity has recently come to be considered as a trait that can be subjected to selection (Scheiner, 1993). Such plasticity can often be an important adaptive strategy for coping with the changes of the environment (Scheiner, 1993).

A form of mixed model known as the animal model is used in many studies to decompose phenotypic variance into different genetic and environmental sources of variation and to estimate key parameters such as the heritability of the trait or the genetic correlations between traits in natural, laboratory and domestic populations (Wilson *et al.*, 2009). With repeated measures on individuals it is possible to partition the phenotypic variance into within and between individual components by fitting individual identity as a random effect with and without associating it to pedigree. The among-individual variance expressed as a proportion of the trait is repeatability (r) and it is in the extreme case the upper limit for heritability ( $h^2$ ) (Falconer and Mackay, 1996).

Scheiner and Goodnight (1983), showed that the quantitative definition for plastic variation (Bradshaw, 1965) is the deviation of the mean phenotype of the genotype within an environment from the mean phenotype of that genotype across all environments. For a population plastic variation is then the environmental variance component including the variance component explaining the interaction of the genotype and the environment. By analogy with heritability Scheiner and Goodnight (1983) defined plasticity as the ratio of plastic variance to total phenotypic variance.

An animal model (Lynch and Walsh, 1998; Kruuk, 2004) is a statistical model used to estimate genetic contributions to trait variation using population pedigrees, and has been

applied successfully for several decades. Since the late 1990s, an increasing number of studies have applied animal models in wild populations because it simultaneously describes the resemblance among all individuals in a given data set, irrespectively of their level of relatedness, i.e. is not restricted to one level of relatedness (e.g. parent-offspring). It is thus optimal for use of the often complex and patchy pedigrees, and flexible enough to cope with variable amounts of missing data. Although, obviously, missing data will reduce the precision of estimates, and can in some cases cause bias. An animal model uses the information on the resemblance among individuals of known relatedness to estimate how genes influence phenotypes.

For a single trait we can estimate the amount of phenotypic variance  $(V_p)$  that is due to genetic differences among individuals (Falconer & Mackay 1996). Genotypic differences among individuals are composed of additive (V<sub>a</sub>), dominance (V<sub>d</sub>) and interaction or epistatic (Vie) genetic sources of variance. However, Vd and Vie are extremely difficult to estimate in non-experimental settings, and both animal breeders and field ecologists have tended to focus on measuring additive genetic variance by estimating the phenotypic similarity of relatives (Falconer & Mackay 1996; Kruuk 2004). In the simplest case, this involves statistically partitioning the phenotypic variance into two parts such that it includes additive variance component and the residual variance (V<sub>r</sub>). V<sub>r</sub> is normally interpreted as arising from environmental effects which entails the assumption that dominance and epistasis make negligible contributions to V<sub>p</sub>. The narrow-sense heritability of a trait (h<sup>2</sup>) is then defined as the proportion of phenotypic variance explained by additive genetic variance, and describes the degree of resemblance between relatives. Permanent environment variance component (V<sub>pe</sub>) will include nonaditive genetic effects such as dominance variance, common environment (environment shared by members of family that affect individuals permanently, such as nest effect), maternal environment or maternal genetic variance.

Several different approaches are possible for genetic analyses using the animal model. Repeatability model is a method of choice in routine genetic evaluation due to its simplicity. It is based on the assumption that genetic correlations between all measurements are equal to one. Therefore, the examined trait in consequent measurements (e.g. milk yield on different days of lactation) is assumed to have a constant variance and a common correlation with each other. This assumption is not a valid in cases where individual variance changes according to the amount of time that has passed between measurements (e.g. growth or lactation curves). Multiple-trait approach and random regression models are more complex alternatives with their own advantages. Accuracy increase of the evaluations, especially for traits with low heritability is the main reason for choosing the multiple-trait approach. However, computational complexity and increased number of parameters can sometimes cause problems with estimation. Namely, multiple-trait models are based on the assumption that the correlations between trait in successive measurements are lower than one. Thus, observations measured on individuals across time are treated as separate and unique traits that are genetically correlated to one another. Random regression models are used in the analysis of longitudinal data (i.e. function valued, or infinite-dimensional) with repeated measurements in different points during animal's life. Therefore, the model has fewer parameters necessary for the description of the data. Furthermore, (co)variance estimates are smoother along the trajectory, and it is possible to estimate them at any point along the trajectory.

Genetic correlations have not so far been provided for the sheep breeds in dairy production in Croatia, and estimates of heritability have only been published recently for the Istrian sheep daily milk yield, protein and fat contents and yields (Špehar *et al.*, 2012). During the recent two decades the practice in other European and Mediterranean sheep breeds shows the annual genetic gain of 0.8-2% of the average milk yield. Their experiences show the importance of taking into account the possibility of reduction of fat and protein content due to the genetic milk yield upgrade, as well as the negative effect on udder conformation with increasing milk production. Namely, lower fat and protein content negatively affect cheese-making value of milk, and undesirable udder conformation is unsuitable for machine milking.

The lactation approach is commonly used for the genetic evaluation of the milk yield in dairy ewes although the test-day approach may theoretically be of use (Carta *et al.*, 1995; El-Saied *et al.*, 1998; Serrano *et al.*, 2001; Gutierrez *et al.*, 2007). In most of the breeds a repeatability BLUP-animal model with fixed environmental effects and random additive genetic and permanent environment effects is used (Astruc *et al.*, 1995).

#### **3. AIM OF RESEARCH AND HYPOTHESES**

The aim of the research was to investigate the potential of Istrian sheep milk production and possibilities of production intensification that would enable more of the required quality product through increased time effectiveness of production. Additional focus of interest are the possibilities of genetic improvement, taking into account the potential fragility of the population due to its limited size.

#### 3.1. Hypotheses

1. External udder morphology of the Istrian sheep is adequate for machine milking because there was no significant selection for milk yield.

2. Based on the specific male to female ratio in the Istrian sheep population, and although there have been changes in the population size during the last decades, the Istrian sheep population appears to have genetic higher variability than neighboring sheep populations. Additionally, conserved genetic variability of milk yield and content is expected.

#### **OBJECTIVES:**

- to evaluate morphometry of the udder in the Istrian sheep in Croatia, the following list of traits will be measured from digital photographs of the posterior view of the udder: full udder height (Fh), maximal udder width (Mw), cisternal part below the teat orifice (Cis) and the angle the teat closes to the vertical line of the udder (Alpha)
- comparison with other dairy sheep breeds will be made, and variability of these traits on farms that apply machine milking and the farms with hand milking will be evaluated
- genetic parameters and breeding values for external udder shape will be evaluated in order to check possibility of selection/conservation of udder traits appropriate for machine milking

- to evaluate milk flow kinetics (milking time, average milk flow, peak flow rate and milking yield) in the Istrian sheep on the farms that apply machine milking
- to find correlation between BLUP values for milk flow kinetics and udder shape traits
- to estimate genetic parameters, variability and breeding values for milk yield and milk content (protein, fat and lactose percentage and somatic cell score) using the animal model
- to assess the current status of the genetic diversity and differentiation of the Istrian sheep population in comparison with similar sheep breeds of pramenka type, using microsatellite markers
- to compare genetic variability of the Istrian sheep population in Croatia with variability of the Istrian sheep population in Slovenia using microsatellite markers

#### 4. MATERIAL, METHODS AND RESEARCH PLAN

#### 4.1. DATA AND SAMPLING

#### 4.1.1. Animals and the pedigree

Istrian sheep are reared in a large variability of farming conditions. They are mostly housed in closed barns during the winter or cold nights and hot afternoons, and in open pens from the beginning of the vegetation season (usually March), when they are offered natural pasture, until October/November. Their milk production of is seasonal due to seasonal fertility of the breed. Lambing is most often carried out during the second half of December, but some of the farmers prefer the beginning of vegetation season, in order to target the lamb production to period when there is traditionally a high requirement for lamb meat (Christmas and Easter). Records of lambing are ranging from late September to early May. Suckling period lasts for 30-60 days, rarely more, depending on the purpose of the lamb. Longer period of suckling is preferred by farmers for the animals that will be used for stock replacement. After weaning, ewes are milked twice a day by hand or by machine. The milking period lasts mostly until August, depending on the water availability during summer, when usually the larger farms first decrease milking to once a day before the end of the milking period. Depending on the farm, usually on the farms equipped with milking parlours, ewes are offered supplementary feed (barley, oat, and corn, sometimes with soy or sunflower concentrate) during milking.

Pedigree of Istrian sheep is recorded by Croatian Agricultural Agency. There were 24 219 records obtained for the period 1989 – 2012. After exclusion of the 9% of non-logical entries, 22 042 identities remained spanning over 9 generations. In the genetic models, all available relationships were used from the pedigree. More details on pedigree data are reported in Table 1.

Pedigree	22 042	Generations	•
records		22 042 Gen	Generations
Sires	353	Sires of Sire	148
Ones		Dams of Sire	265
Dams	6 597	Sires of Dam	265
Lano		Dams of Dam	2 841

Table 1. Pedigree characteristics of Istrian sheep from Croatia.

#### 4.1.2. Udder shape and milkability

Milk flow kinetics during machine milking of Istrian dairy sheep was measured in five commercial herds using Lactocorder© (WMB; Switzerland) in early (first 3 months), mid-(months 4 and 5) and late lactation (months 6 to 8) during year 2010. The animals were milked twice a day. Milk production lasted 8 hours during the day and 16 hours through the night. Milking units were used at a milking vacuum of 37 kPa, pulsation rate 120 cycles/min and pulsation ratio 50:50. The milk was collected in buckets. Teat cups were attached to the udder without previous touching of the udder. Milking routine was finalized with machine stripping: manual udder massage and lifting of the lowest part of the udder in order to position the teats as low as possible when the milk flow dropped below 100 g/min with teat cups still attached.

There were 611 records of milking time, milk yield, peak, and average flow rate obtained for 359 Istrian sheep using Lactocorder© (WMB; Switzerland) specially calibrated for milking of the ewes (Dzidic *et al.*, 2004). After removal of non-logical values, animals without ID information and animals with less than two records, 7.4% of data were eliminated, leaving 566 records of 336 sheep (148 morning and 418 evening) ranging from eight to 188 days in lactation. Lactation numbers of the measured ewes ranged from one to eight. Because of the small number of data in the higher lactation numbers, and since there were no pronounced differences of means between the higher lactations, ewes in their 5<sup>th</sup> to 8<sup>th</sup> lactation were grouped together. More details on milk flow kinetics data is reported in Table 2.
	Animals	Records	Mean	Mean	SE
	7 (11111015	Records	number	Wear	0L
Milk yield	140	242	0.74	0.42	0.012
(kg)	142	313	2.71	0.43	0.013
Average					
flow	97	214	2.53	0.55	0.014
(kg/min)					
Peak flow					
rate	120	265	2.63	0.66	0.014
(kg/min)					
Milking					
time	141	311	2.71	1.20	0.038
(min)					
Full					
height	258	621	3.05	13.46	0.095
(cm)					
Maximum					
width	250	596	2.98	10.69	0.086
(cm)					
Cistern					
height	243	1041	2.97	1.36	0.025
(cm)					
Teat	242	1007	2 05	20 24	0 450
angle (°)	243	1027	2.90	JO.∠ I	0.409

Table 2. Milk flow kinetics and udder morphometric data description.

Digital photographs of 750 ewe's posterior view of the udders were taken prior to evening milking on 11 commercial farms in Istria three times during lactation. Early lactation measurement was performed during first 3 months of lactation, mid-lactation measurement during months four and five, and late lactation measurement was performed for months six to eight. Six of the farms performed milking by hand and five farms used machine milking. External udder shape was measured from the digital photographs using Image Tool software as shown in Dzidic *et al.* (2009). Figure 1 shows the measurements that were taken from the

photographs: full udder height (Fh); maximum udder width (Mw); part of the left (Cl) and right (Cr) udder cistern that is below the teat orifice; and the left (Alpha-l) and right (Alpha-r) teat angle, as the angle declines from the vertical axis of the udder (inter-mammary groove). Total of 1 397 records were edited by removing non-logical values, animals without ID information or information on the beginning of the lactation, as well as animals with less than two records. More details on udder shape data is reported in Table 2.



Full udder height (Fh); maximum udder width (Mw); part of the left (Cl) and right (Cr) udder cistern that is below the teat orifice; and the left (alpha-l) and right (alpha-r).

Figure 1. Udder shape measurements that were taken from the photographs of Istrian sheep.

# 4.1.3. Milk yield and content

Official test day (TD) records were used, gathered over the period 2005-2012 by Croatian Agricultural Agency for sheep breeding programme. Data for daily milk yield (MY), protein (PC), fat (FC) and lactose percentage (LC), and somatic cells count (SCC) were obtained from milk recording using ICAR regulations (ICAR, 2005) on the total Istrian sheep population in Croatia. Milk content was measured using standard infrared spectrophotometry (HRN ISO 9622:2001). Method AT was used predominately, and the B4 method was used to obtain 17.4% of the initial TD records before data editing, and was applied only on limited number of farms since 2010. The milking period ended for each ewe when TD milk yield was less than 200 mL. Before editing there were 24 306 TD records with information on the date of beginning of lactation. There were 4 228 AT records (17.4% of the initial data before filtering), and 2 370 B4 records (9.7% of the initial data before filtering) obtained during evening milking. Data set for each variate was edited separately.

Only morning records were used in milk yield analysis, and the initial values were transformed to kilograms of daily milk yield using the factor 2 as an approximation for daily yield, and 1.036 kg/l as density factor. As somatic cell count (SCC) has a highly skewed distribution it was transformed to somatic score (SCS) in a classical way (Ali and Shook, 1980) using the formula:

# $SCS = log_2(SCC/100000) + 3$

Data were edited, and finally about 5% of the milk quality data and 30% of the milk yield data was removed from the set. Records were removed from analysis: 1) if first record occurred after 150 days post-partum; and 2) if ewes had less than 2 TD records. Milk yield data was additionally removed if the record was taken before 30 days post-partum or after 240 days post-partum. Final number of records and animals as well as raw means are presented in Table 3.

The first TD measurements were performed mostly from 16 days after lambing and the last were recorded for day 255. Abundance of milk yield and content data through lactation over 15 day intervals, starting with the first record day, are presented in Figure 2. The number of TD measurements over days in lactation decreased with the growth of lactation number. Average number of lactations in TD records for all of the traits after individual filtering was 3.3. Flocks with less than 10 ewes in the records were omitted. The number of flocks was 50 for milk content and 46 for milk yield. For all analysed traits, five levels of lactation number (first, second, third, fourth, and fifth-14<sup>th</sup>), two levels of litter size (single and multiple birth), and three levels of month of lambing (January-March, April-June, October-December) were included in the models. As only small number of lambings occurred in July and September, these subclasses were merged with the previous or subsequent class of month of lambing.

	MY (kg)	PC (%)	FC (%)	LC (%)	SCS
Mean	1.03	5.95	7.21	4.37	4.43
Range	0.25 - 4.04	4.01 - 7.99	2.50 - 11.95	3.40 - 5.46	0.06 - 10.99
DoL range	32 - 239	16 - 250	16 - 250	16 - 250	16 - 239
DoL mean	124.4	120.5	120.9	120.2	120.1
Lactation					
number	3.27	3.26	3.26	3.25	3.26
mean					
Number of	3138	3172	3172	3165	3171
animals	0100	0112	0112	0100	0111
Number of	16783	23396	23150	22561	23234
records	10700	20000	20100	22001	20204

Table 3. Raw means and basic statistics of data used in animal models.

DoL – Day of lactation, MY – Daily milk yield, PC – Protein content, FC – Fat content, LC – Lactose content, SCS – Somatic cell score.



Figure 2. Structure of milk yield and content data in respect to the number of records through lactation over 15 day intervals.

# 4.1.4. DNA sampling and genotyping

A total of 341 blood samples from the jugular vein of sheep were collected for the 12 breeds under study (Figure 3), with 20 to 33 unrelated animals sampled from each population (Table 4). Additionally, one sample group was obtained from a reproductively isolated population of Istrian sheep in Slovenia.

Blood Genomic DNA Kit was used to extract DNA from the whole blood samples (GenEltue<sup>TM</sup>, Sigma). For the initial selection of 30 markers, four different PCR-multiplex reactions were optimised using fluorescent-labelled primers and hot-start polymerase (JumpStart<sup>TM</sup> REDTaq<sup>®</sup> ReadyMix<sup>TM</sup>, Sigma). Twenty of the markers had been selected from the sheep diversity list recommended by FAO (2011). The remaining 10 markers had previously shown good features for multiplexing. Diluted PCR products were processed in a 16-capillary electrophoresis ABI3130XL Genetic Analyser, with two of the PCR-multiplex reactions being combined into a single multi-loading mix (Table 5).



IST – Istrian sheep, KRK – Krk island sheep, RAB – Rab island sheep, CRE – Cres island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka, PAG – Pag Island sheep, DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep, KUP – Kupres pramenka, VLA – Vlasic/Travnik/Dub pramenka, PRI – Privor pramenka, STO – Hum/Stolac pramenka, RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda.

Figure 3. Geographical locations of the eight autochthonous breeds of Croatia, and the four local populations of Bosnia and Herzegovina sampled in this study.

Table 4. Sumr	marized descript	on of the eigh	t autochthonous	breeds of	Croatia and
---------------	------------------	----------------	-----------------	-----------	-------------

	Sample	<b>.</b>	Population	_	
Population	(n/flocks)	Sample location	size	Purpose	Phenotype
Istrian sheep	Slovenia 20M/4 Istria 49/18 (20F, 29M)	Coastal-Karst region-Slovenia; Istrian peninsula- Croatia <sup>a</sup>	≈ 4.600 <sup>g</sup>	milk, meat	70 kg (ram 100 kg), black legs, abdomen; spotty or black head; black, grey, brown fleece, (white preferred in Slovenia)
Krk island sheep	23/2 (23F)	Krk island <sup>a</sup>	< 19.000 °	meat, milk	33-38 kg (ram 50–55 kg), white, some black, grey or brown
Rab island sheep	25/1 (24F, 1M)	Rab island <sup>a</sup>	< 7.000 <sup>g</sup>	meat, milk	35-40 kg (ram 55-60 kg), white, or with grey/black spots on legs and head
Cres island sheep	25/1 (23F, 2M)	Cres island <sup>a</sup>	< 16.000 <sup>e</sup>	meat, milk	Small, white spotted with black
Lika pramenka	25/1 (21F, 4M)	Otočac <sup>b</sup>	< 38.000 <sup>e</sup>	meat	44-55 kg (ram 65-75 kg)
Pag island sheep	25/2 (24F, 1M)	Pag island <sup>a</sup>	< 36.000 <sup>e</sup>	milk, meat	30-40 kg (ram 40-50 kg) white, 2% black
Dalmatian pramenka	25/1 (24F, 1M)	Šibenik area <sup>a</sup>	≈ 209.000 <sup>e</sup>	meat, milk	35-40 kg (ram 55–60 kg), white fleece, sometimes black, grey or brown
Dubrovnik Ruda	25/1 (20F, 5M)	Southward of Pelješac peninsula <sup>a</sup>	≈ 700 <sup>g</sup>	meat	45 kg ( ram 60 kg), fine wool
Kupres pramenka	25/4 (17F, 8M)	Rama, Zvirnjača, Tomislavgrad <sup>b</sup>	not estimated <sup>f</sup>	meat, milk	60 kg, white with black spots on the head, some without the ear-lobes
Vlasic pramenka	24/2 (10F, 14M)	Tomislavgrad <sup>c</sup>	≈ 100.000	milk, meat	70 kg sheep (ram 80 kg), black head
Privor pramenka	25/2 (7F, 18M)	Pridvorci, Uskoplje <sup>c</sup>	not estimated <sup>f</sup>	meat, milk	40 kg ( ram 60 kg), black spots over the head
Stolac pramenka	25/3 (14F, 11M)	Nevesinje <sup>d</sup>	< 2.000 <sup>g</sup>	meat	23 kg (ram 35kg), white with black spots over the head, finer fleece

the four local populations of Bosnia and Herzegovina sampled in this study.

For each sampled population, the corresponding geographical locations are indicated together with the number of samples, population size and status (national). The numbers of female (F) and male (M) samples are indicated in parentheses.

<sup>a</sup> Mediterranean; <sup>b</sup> Continental mountainous; <sup>c</sup> Continental; <sup>d</sup> Sub-Mediterranean; <sup>e</sup> Potentially endangered; <sup>f</sup> Highly endangered; <sup>g</sup> Endangered.

perature	Fluorochrome	warker	Allele range	
	6-FAM	OarFCB128 INRA063 HSCª	95-127 165-217 261-297	
	VIC	OarCP49 <sup>a</sup> MAF65 INRA132 <sup>a</sup> ETH10 <sup>a</sup>	60-126 115-139 144-174 197-205 230 148	
55°C	NED	SFST13 SPS113 <sup>a</sup> MCM527 ILSTS005 TCRVB6 <sup>a</sup>	125-148 125-155 160-180 184-208 226-266	
	PET	MAF209 FCB304 CSRD247ª ILSTS011	200-308 103-133 148-188 207-251 268-284	
	6-FAM	OarCP34 OarJMP58	107-119 124-170	
56°C	VIC	JMP29 BM1824 <sup>b</sup>	110-158 166-172	
	NED	BM8125 DYMS1	103-123 157-201	
	PET	OarVH72	118-138	
•	6-FAM	MCM140 OarHH47	160-190 115-147	
ر د	VIC	HUJ616	88-168	
2	PET VIC NED	ILSIS28° MAF214 SRCPSP0°	131-177 170-230 161-270	
	; ; ;	6-FAM VIC NED PET 6-FAM VIC NED PET 6-FAM VIC PET 6-FAM VIC PET VIC NED	6-FAM OarFCB128 INRA063 HSC <sup>a</sup> 0arCP49 <sup>a</sup> MAF65   VIC INRA132 <sup>a</sup> ETH10 <sup>a</sup> SPS115 <sup>a</sup> SPS115 <sup>a</sup> SPS113 <sup>a</sup> MCM527 NED   NED ILSTS005   TCRVB6 <sup>a</sup> TCRGC4B <sup>a</sup> MAF209   PET FCB304   CSRD247 <sup>a</sup> ILSTS011   6-FAM OarCP34   OarJMP58   VIC JMP29   BM1824 <sup>b</sup> NED BM8125   DYMS1   PET OarVH72   6-FAM MCM140   OarHH47   VIC HUJ616   PET ILSTS28 <sup>c</sup> VIC MAF214   NED SRCRSP9 <sup>c</sup>	

Table 5. Markers included in the three loading panels that were designed in this study.

The loading panels included one or two groups of markers amplified in the same reaction by multiplex-PCR. The names of the markers analysed, the fluorochrome labelling and the PCR-hybridization temperature are given in the table together with the allele range observed for each marker in the sheep samples from 12 populations analysed.

<sup>a</sup> markers not included in the ISAG/FAO list of microsatellite markers for analysing sheep diversity; <sup>b</sup> marker with high frequency of null allele and the HWE deviation significant in 4 of 12 populations; <sup>c</sup> markers with 5% and more of genotypes missing, excluded from analysis.

#### 4.2. METHODS AND ANALYSES

### 4.2.1. Genetic analysis

Descriptive statistics for data and development of the fixed part of the model were obtained using GLM procedure in statistical package SAS 9.3 (SAS, 2011). Genetic parameters and breeding values were estimated using univariate animal models and REML (Restricted Maximum Likelihood) in AS-Reml program release 3 (Gilmour *et al.*, 2009). Fixed environmental factors to be included in the models were additionally explored in AS-Reml program release 3, according to results of building successively univariate analysis of variance.

Stage of lactation was sub-modelled using Wilmink lactation model (Equation 1) (Wilmink, 1987) for all traits in milk yield and content analysis.

Equation (1)

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x + \beta_2 e^{kx}$$

Where:

- Y = MY, PC, LC, FC, SCS

- $\beta_0 = \text{coefficient describing peak production}$
- $\beta_1$  = coefficient describing lactation persistence inversely
- x = days in milk
- $\beta_2$  = coefficient describing beginning of lactation
- k = -0.05

Additional fixed effects were included in the milk yield and content models: farm, year and month of lambing, litter size, number and stage of lactation, as can be seen in repeated records animal model equation 2 for milk yield and SCS. Since we had repeated measurements within and between lactations for individual animals, random effects included additive genetic variance ( $V_a$ ) and permanent effect of the animal ( $V_{pe}$ ).

Equation (2)

 $y_{ijklmn} = \mu + \beta_{1i} DoL_{ijklmn} + \beta_{2i} e^{-0.05*DoL} + L_i + S_j + M_k + Y_l + F_m + Y_l*(M_k + L_i + F_m) + a_n + p_{ni} + e_{ijklmn}$ 

Where:

- y<sub>ijklmn</sub> = individual observation of MY, FC, PC, LC or SCS
- $\mu$  = intercept
- $\beta_1$  = coefficient describing lactation persistence inversely
- DoL<sub>ijklmn</sub> = days in milk
- $\beta_2$  = coefficient describing beginning of lactation
- $L_i$  = fixed effect of lactation number (i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5+)
- $S_j$  = fixed effect of litter size (j = 1 and 2+)
- $M_k$  = fixed effect of the month of lambing (k = 1, 2 and 3)
- $Y_1$  = fixed effect of the year of measurement (l = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8)
- $F_m$  = fixed effect of the farm (m = 1 to 50 for SCS, and 1 to 46 for MY)
- a<sub>n</sub> = the random additive genetic effect of animal with complete relationship included (n values for different variates are shown in Table 3.)
- p<sub>ni</sub> = the random permanent environmental effect within lactation
- $e_{ijklmn}$  = the residual

Matrix form of the model is shown in Equation 3.

Equation (3)

$$y = X\beta + Z\alpha + Z\lambda + \varepsilon$$

- $\beta$  = the vector of parameters for fixed effects
- $\alpha$ ,  $\lambda$  = the vectors of parameters for additive genetic effect and permanent environment effect, respectively
- $\varepsilon$  = the vector of residuals
- X = the incidence matrix for fixed effects
- Z = the incidence matrix for random additive genetic effect and permanent environment effect

Each animal has an additive genetic as well as a permanent environmental effect, hence both effects have the same design matrix. Permanent environmental effects for different animals are uncorrelated, and within an animal there is no correlation between its additive and its permanent environmental effect. This distribution of the three random effects is shown in Equation 4.

Equation (4)

$$\operatorname{var} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \lambda \\ \varepsilon \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A\sigma_{\alpha}^{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I\sigma_{\lambda}^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} G & 0 \\ & \\ 0 & R \end{pmatrix}$$

Where:

- $\sigma_{\alpha}^{2}$  is the direct additive genetic variance
- $\sigma_{\lambda}^2$  is the variance due to permanent environmental effects
- $\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2}$  is the variance of the residuals

For any pair of individuals *i* and *j*, the expected additive genetic covariance between them is  $2FI_{ij}V_a$  where  $FI_{ij}$  is the coefficient of coancestry, i.e. probability that an allele drawn at random from individual *i* is identical by descent to one drawn at random from individual *j*. When doubled, it yields values of "relatedness" (e.g. 0.5 for parent offspring and full sibs, or 0.25 for half-sibs). The higher the relatedness and the more V<sub>a</sub> underlying the trait, the greater the expected covariance between two individuals. Among all the *n* individuals in the pedigree, the matrix of additive genetic covariance for a trait is given with  $AV_a$ , where *A* is the additive genetic relationship matrix (size n\*n with all the pairwise values of relatedness).

In random regression animal models for PC, FC and LC, stage of lactation was treated as a covariate. Random additive genetic effect was modelled as a function of time and was fitted as random regression on days in lactation. Orthogonal Legendre polynomials were used to standardize time scale into values between -1 and +1 using AS-Reml 3 (Gilmour *et al.*, 2009). Legendre polynomials of the first order were fitted as lactation covariate in FC model, and second order Legendre polynomials were fitted in PC and LC models (Equation 5 and 6). Hence, with second order Legendre polynomials we fit a three order regression, and estimate genetic variance of the intercept (i.e. of the average variate values of the animals), variance of the slope (i.e. of the growth/decrease of the variate of the animals during lactation) and quadratic term of the variate. Values for particular days of lactation were calculated back from the standardised time scale using coefficients provided by AS-Reml (Gilmour *et al.*, 2009) in SAS/IML module.

# Equation (5)

 $y_{ijklmn} = \mu + \beta_{1i} DoL_{ijklmn} + \beta_{2i} e^{-0.05*DoL} + L_i + S_j + M_k + Y_l + F_m + Y_l*(M_k + L_i + F_m) + a_n*\phi_0(DoL) + p_{ni} + e_{ijklmn}$ 

# Where:

- y<sub>ijklmn</sub> = individual observation of MY, FC, PC, LC or SCS
- $\mu$  = intercept
- $\beta_1$  = coefficient describing lactation persistence inversely
- $DoL_{ijklmn} = days in milk$
- $\beta_2$  = coefficient describing beginning of lactation
- $L_i$  = fixed effect of lactation number (i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5+)
- $S_j$  = fixed effect of litter size (j = 1 and 2+)
- $M_k$  = fixed effect of the month of lambing (k = 1, 2 and 3)
- $Y_1$  = fixed effect of the year of measurement (1 = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8)
- $F_m$  = fixed effect of the farm (m = 1 to 50 for SCS, and 1 to 46 for MY)
- $a_n$  = the random additive genetic effect of animal with complete relationship included (n values for different traits are shown in Table 3.)
- $\phi_o =$  polynomial of the o<sup>th</sup> order for days in lactation (o = 1 in FC an 2 for PC an LC models)
- $p_{ni}$  = the random permanent environmental effect within lactation
- $e_{ijklmn}$  = the residual

Equation (6)

$$y = X\beta + \Omega(Z_{\alpha}\alpha, DOL, o) + Z_{\lambda}\lambda + \varepsilon$$

Where:

- y = the vectors of observations for PC, LC, FC
- $\beta$  = the vector of parameters for fixed effects
- $\Omega()$  = Legendre polynomial function
- $\alpha$ ,  $\lambda$  = the vectors of random regression coefficients for additive genetic effect and permanent environment effect, respectively
- DoL = days in milk
- o = order of the polynomial
- $\varepsilon$  = the vector of residuals
- X = the incidence matrix for fixed effects

- $Z_{\alpha}$  = the matrix of the regression coefficients for the o<sup>th</sup> polynomial of random additive genetic effects
- $Z_{\lambda}$  = the incidence matrix for permanent environment effects

Expected values of observations E(y) were product of the incidence matrix for fixed effects and parameters for fixed effects (Equation 7), and expected values for all random effects were equal to zero. (Co)variances for random effects ( $G_{\alpha}$ ,  $G_{\lambda}$ ) and residuals compose phenotypic (co)variances as shown in Equation 8.

Equation (7)

$$E(y) = X\beta$$

Equation (8)

$$V = var(y) = Z_{\alpha}G_{\alpha}Z_{\alpha}' + Z_{\lambda}G_{\lambda}Z_{\lambda}' + R$$

Where:

$$\operatorname{var}(\lambda) = G_{\lambda}$$
  
 $\operatorname{var}(\varepsilon) = R$ 

 $var(\alpha) = G_{\alpha}$ 

Equations 9 and 10 describe (co)variance structure for the individual random effect. Sign  $\otimes$  indicates Kroneckers product that denotes an operation on two matrices of arbitrary sizes resulting in a block matrix. Matrix *I* is identity matrix for permanent environment effect. Levels are assumed to be uncorrelated for trivial random effects, while for additive genetic effect the relationship among levels is shown in the matrix *A*. Measurements are correlated within levels for the individual random effects, as shown by (co)variance structure in matrix  $G_{0\alpha}$  for additive genetic effect (Equation 10). Matrix  $R_{0i}$  is diagonal matrix where index *i* indicates matrices for residuals. The matrix for residuals is a direct sum (indicated by sign  $\Sigma^{\otimes}$ ) of  $R_{0i}$  matrices. The residuals from different animals are additionally assumed to be independent and normally distributed. Likelihood of the models was obtained under general-positive constraint for the matrix elements of the *G* structure. Equation (9)

$$\operatorname{var} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \lambda \\ \varepsilon \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} G_{\alpha} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & G_{\lambda} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & R \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A \otimes G_{0\alpha} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I \otimes G_{0\lambda} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \Sigma \otimes R_{0i} \end{pmatrix}$$

Equation (10)

$$G_{0\alpha} = var \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{k0} \\ \alpha_{k1} \\ \alpha_{k_{A}^{-1}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^{2}_{\alpha 0} & \sigma_{\alpha 0 \alpha 1} & \dots & \sigma_{\alpha 0 \alpha (k_{A}^{-1})} \\ \sigma^{2}_{\alpha 1} & \dots & \sigma_{\alpha 1 \alpha (k_{A}^{-1})} \\ \sigma^{2}_{\alpha k_{A}^{-1}} \end{pmatrix}$$

Main sources of variance that were estimated in these models are:

- additive genetic V<sub>a</sub>
- permanent environment V<sub>pe</sub>,
- residual variance V<sub>r</sub>
- individual variance  $V_i = V_a + V_{pe}$
- phenotypic variance  $V_p = V_a + V_{pe} + V_r$

Repeatability (r) is a proportion of  $V_i$  and  $V_p$ , and heritability (h<sup>2</sup>) is a proportion of  $V_a$  and  $V_p$ .

# 4.2.2. Analysis of udder shape and milkability

Breeding values for full udder height (Fh), maximal udder width (Mw), angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder (Alpha), height of cisternal part of the udder below the teat orifice (Cis), machine milking time (Mt), machine milking yield (My), average milk flow (Avgm) and peak flow rate (Mmf) during machine milking were estimated using univariate mixed models (Equations 11 and 12) and REML algorithm in AS-Reml program release 3 (Gilmour *et al.*, 2009).

Farm, litter size, number of lactation and day of measurement are defined as fixed influences in udder shape models. Cis and Alpha models included additional fixed effect of the udder half with two levels: additive genetic value of the individual and permanent environmental effect within the day of measuring as the random effect.

Equation (11)

$$y_{ijkln} = \mu + D_i + S_j + L_k + F_l + F_l^*L_k + a_{ni} + p_{ni}^*D_i + e_{ijkln}$$

Where:

- y<sub>ijkln</sub> = individual observation of Fh, Mw, Alpha, Cis
- $\mu$  = intercept
- $D_i$  = fixed effect of measuring day (i = 1, 2 and 3)
- $S_j$  = fixed effect of litter size (j = 1 and 2+)
- $L_k$  = fixed effect of the lactation number (k = 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5+)
- $F_1$  = fixed effect of the farm (l = 1 to 11)
- $a_n$  = the random additive genetic effect of animal
- $p_{ni}$  = the random permanent environmental effect within day of measurement (for Alpha and Cis)

 $e_{ijkln}$  = the residual

Farm, number of lactation, milking interval and day of measurement are defined as fixed effects in milk flow kinetics models. Additive genetic value of the individual was the random effect. Mmf model included additional random effect of permanent environment.

Equation (12)

$$y_{ijkln} = \mu + D_i + S_j + L_k + F_l + a_{ni} + e_{ijkln}$$

Where:

- y<sub>ijkln</sub> = individual observation of Mt, My, Avgm, Mmf
- $\mu$  = intercept
- $D_i$  = fixed effect of measuring day (i = 1, 2 and 3)
- $S_j$  = fixed effect of milking interval (j = 1 and 2)
- $L_k$  = fixed effect of the lactation number (k = 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5+)
- $F_1$  = fixed effect of the farm (1 = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5)
- a<sub>n</sub> = the random additive genetic effect of animal with complete relationship included (n values for different traits are shown in Table 2.)
- $e_{ijkln}$  = the residual

Repeatability within lactation is calculated as a ratio of the covariance between the measurement day and the total variability. Pearson correlations of BLUP between Mmf, Avgm, Mt, My, Fh, Mw, Cis and Alpha were calculated using CORR procedure (SAS 9.3).

#### 4.2.3. Molecular variability analyses

The Istrian sheep sampled in Croatia and Slovenia was compared to eleven indigenous pramenka breeds from Croatia, and from Bosnia and Herzegovina. Additionally, variability and structure of Istrian sheep breed was analysed by comparing the population from Croatia to population from Slovenia using Lika pramenka and Krk island sheep as out-groups.

Allele frequency, the number of alleles (A), observed heterozygosity (Ho) and heterozygosity expected (He) under the Hardy-Weinberg (HW) equilibrium assumption across the populations and the markers, were calculated using the GENETIX 4.04 software (Belkhir *et al.*, 2002). Locus-wise deviations of the markers from HW equilibrium across the populations were tested by means of the GENEPOP 4.1.3 software package (Raymond and Rousset, 1995) and the method of Guo and Thompson (1992). The same software was used to determine the possibility of null-alleles and gametic disequilibrium test. Statistical significance of the values obtained in all the cases was estimated by bootstrapping, using 1 000 replications. Markers showing deviation from the HW equilibrium were excluded from further analysis if the deviation was significant in more than half of the populations studied.

Private alleles were accounted for utilizing the GDA software (Lewis and Zaykin, 2001). Polymorphic information content (PIC) and the rarefacted allelic richness were estimated in MOLKIN 3.0 (Gutierrez *et al.*, 2005), using bootstrapping to standardize among different sample size populations. Hulbert's rarefaction correction and sample size correction were based on 50 diploid individuals. Pair-wise genetic distances (Fst), coefficients of inbreeding (Fis) and gene flow estimates were obtained using ARLEQUIN 3.1 (Excoffier *et al.*, 2005) and GENETIX 4.04 (Belkhir *et al.*, 2002). GENETIX 4.04 was also used to evaluate the significance of the Fis by permuting the alleles within populations over all loci in each breed, and under the assumption of heterozygosis deficit, as well as for the factorial correspondence analysis.

Genetic variation and the distribution of genetic diversity among and within the groups were determined through the analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) using the ARLEQUIN 3.1 software. Several groupings of populations in nested AMOVA were tested in order to find the grouping that best explains the variance in the genotype data. Individual multi-locus genotypes were used in clustering methods to study the population differentiation. Individual assignment in the populations was investigated using the STRUCTURE 2.3.1 software (Pritchard *et al.*, 2000). Ten runs were performed to choose the appropriate number of inferred clusters (K), fitting K from 2 to 20 for the 12 breeds. For the two populations of

Istrian sheep 10 runs fitting K from 1 to 8 were performed. Burn-in period for all runs was 20 000 iterations, and data was collected during the period of 10 000 iterations. To choose the optimal K, the posterior probability L(K) was calculated using the mean log-likelihood of K for each value of Evanos'  $\Delta K$ . L"(K) in respect to K was also calculated. Graphic representations of these statistics were obtained from Structure Harvester 0.6.8 (Dent and VonHoldt, 2012).

#### **5. RESULTS**

# 5.1. GENETIC ANALYSIS OF MILK YIELD AND QUALITY

### 5.1.1. Averages and trends

The average daily milk yield (MY) of the total population was  $1.68 \pm 0.07$  kg with  $7.04 \pm 0.30\%$  of fat,  $5.56 \pm 0.07\%$  of protein,  $4.94 \pm 0.05\%$  of lactose and the SCS of  $5.31 \pm 0.33$ .

All of the fixed effects were significant (P<0.01) in the MY and LC model, except for litter size. In the PC model day of lactation, lactation, month, year, farm, interaction of year with month and with farm were significant (P<0.05). In the FC model day of lactation, month, year, farm, and interaction of year with farm, as well as interaction of year with month were significant (P<0.05). In the SCS model Wilmink curve coefficient ( $\beta_1$ ) and month as well as all other fixed effects, except for litter size and interaction of year and month, were significant (P<0.05).

The lowest mean of daily MY were predicted for years 2006, 2009 and 2010 and for the ewes with winter lambing, while the ewes with autumn lambing had the highest means of daily milk yield. The MY means trend was positive until the third lactation, after which the means of daily milk yields decreased for ewes in lactations 4 and 5+. Ewes in the first lactation showed the highest LC mean. Ewes in the second lactation had the lowest mean, and the LC means were higher with every lactation. The means of daily milk yield and LC were decreasing through lactation. The lowest LC mean was predicted for 2012 and the highest was in 2005.

Depending on the year, and with the exception of the years 2008 and 2009, FC means were predicted to be higher for ewes with spring lambing (months 4, 5 and 6) and lower for ewes with winter lambing (months 1, 2 and 3). Ewes with autumn lambing showed intermediary FC means, with exception of the years 2007 and 2009, when it was the highest, and 2010 when autumn FC mean was the lowest. The means of ewe's FC and PC were increasing through lactation. The largest PC means were predicted for years 2007, 2009 and 2011, while in 2012 ewes showed the lowest PC mean. Similar as for FC and LC, ewes with spring lambing showed the highest PC mean, while the lowest was in ewes with winter lambing. Among lactations the PC means trend is not clear since the ewes in second lactation

showed the lowest mean. However, in the fourth lactation ewes showed the highest mean, and ewes with higher lactation numbers showed lower PC mean.

Means of SCS had a decreasing trend through lactation. The first lactation ewes showed the highest SCS mean, after which it was decreasing with every further lactation number, having a substantial drop for the ewes in the fourth lactation. Ewes with fall lambing had the highest, and those with spring lambing the lowest SCS mean. For the year 2010, the lowest mean SCS was estimated, while the highest was in 2007. The mean for 2012 shows slight increase in comparison to the previous four years.

# 5.1.2. Genetic parameters

The variance components, heritability, and repeatability for the milk yield and content traits are presented in Table 6. The repeatabilities ranged from 8.1% in SCS to 33.5% in PC records. The permanent environment explained from 2% in FC to 41.7% of phenotypic variation in MY. The heritabilities were low.

The unexplained variance in milk yield and content traits is accumulated in the residual variance. The highest residual to phenotype variance ratio was found in MY and SCS (1.9, 1.1). The ratio was the lowest in PC (0.66).

The (co)variance component estimates of random regression coefficients for FC, PC and LC are presented in Table 7.

The changes of additive genetic variances, phenotypic variances and heritabilities for PC, LC and FC are shown in Figures 4 to 6, respectively. Heritability estimates were relatively low in all three traits. The highest values for heritabilities were estimated in early (0.34, 0.28, 0.15 on day 16 of lactation for PC, LC and FC respectively) and late in lactation (0.25, 0.11 and 0.17 on day 225 of lactation, respectively), while the lowest values were estimated in the middle of lactation (0.01, 0.04 and 0.01 respectively).

	Residual	Additive	Permanent	Individual	Phenotype	Llovitebility	Denestability
	variance	variance	environment	variance	variance	нептаріїту	Repeatability
ΜY	0.12	0.004	0.03	0.8E-02 ± 0.5E-03	0.06 ± 0.001	0.02 ± 0.009 0.05 ±	0.13 ± 0.0078
PC	0.31 ± 0.003	0.022 ± 0.006 0.084 ± 0.009 0.032 ± 0.006	0.02 ± 0.002	0.16 ± 0.013	0.47 ± 0.013	0.012 0.18 ± 0.015 0.07 ±	0.34 <del>±</del> 0.020
FC	1.77 ± 0.018	0.047 ± 0.019 0.280 ± 0.033	0.04 ± 0.010	0.37 ± 0.038	2.14 ± 0.038	0.012 0.02 ± 0.009 0.13 ± 0.014	0.17 ± 0.015
LC	0.06 ± 0.001	0.004 ± 0.001 0.008 ± 0.001 0.006 ± 0.001	0.003 ± 0.001	0.02 ± 0.002	0.09 ± 0.002	0.04 ± 0.015 0.10 ± 0.014 0.07 ± 0.014	0.25 ± 0.021
SCS	4.86 ± 0.040	0.04 ± 0.024	0.32 ± 0.031	0.36 ± 0.025	4.42 ± 0.043	0.01 ± 0.005	0.08 ± 0.005

Table 6. Variance components, heritability and repeatability for the milk yield and content traits analysed in the present study.

# Table 7. Estimated PC, LC and FC additive variances (on the diagonals),

covariances (below the diagonals) and correlations (above the diagonals) between random regression coefficients.

		Intercent	Slana	Quadratic
		Intercept	Slope	term
PC	0 <sup>th</sup>	0.02	0.77	0.65
	1 <sup>st</sup>	0.03	0.08	0.13
	2 <sup>nd</sup>	0.02	0.01	0.03
	O <sup>th</sup>	0.004	0.304	0.54
LC	1 <sup>st</sup>	0.002	0.008	0.18
	2 <sup>nd</sup>	0.003	0.001	0.01
FC	0 <sup>th</sup>	0.047	0.608	1
	1 <sup>st</sup>	0.069	0.280	1

Intercept, slope and quadratic term correspond to the power of Legendre polynomials used in the models.



Va – additive variance; h2 – heritability; Vp – phenotypic variance

Figure 4. Changes of protein content additive and phenotypic variance, and heritability through days of lactation.



Va - additive variance; h2 - heritability; Vp - phenotypic variance

Figure 5. Changes of lactose content additive and phenotypic variance, and heritability through days of lactation.



Va – additive variance; h2 – heritability; Vp – phenotypic variance

Figure 6. Changes of fat content additive and phenotypic variance, and heritability through days of lactation.

# 5.2. MILKABILITY OF ISTRIAN SHEEP

#### 5.2.1. Genetic analysis of udder shape traits

The mean values for Fh, Mw, Cis and Alpha were  $14.13 \pm 1.84$ ,  $13.53 \pm 0.45$ ,  $1.36 \pm 0.24$  and  $29.42 \pm 3.88$  respectively. The Fh mean increased in mid-lactation and decreased at the lactation end. It was the highest in third lactation ewes. Mw and Cis means were decreasing towards the end of lactation. Alpha did not change within or among lactations. Cis mean was the lowest in the first lactation and was increasing for every following lactation, and it was highest for ewes in the 5<sup>th</sup> and later lactations.

The genetic parameters for udder morphometry traits are shown in Table 8. Repeatabilities ranged from 0.42 in Mw, to 0.81 in Cis. The heritabilities ranged from 0.17 in Fh to 0.63 in Cis.

Table 8. Variance components, heritability and repeatability for the udder morphometry related traits in the present study of Istrian sheep in Croatia.

	Residual	V <sub>a</sub> within					
	i tesiduai	measure	V <sub>pe</sub>	Vi	Vp	h²	r <sup>2</sup>
variance	day						
Fh	1.94	0.74	1.760	2.50	4.44	0.17	0.56
Mw	1.72	0.44	0.82	1.26	2.97	0.15	0.42
Cis	0.14	0.45	0.13	0.58	0.71	0.63	0.81
Alpha	102.27	112.27	11.69	123.97	226.23	0.50	0.55

Fh – Full udder height (cm); Mw – Maximum udder width (cm); Cis - Height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice (cm); Alpha - Angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder (°); V<sub>a</sub> - Additive genetic variance component; V<sub>pe</sub> – Permanent environment variance component, plastic variance; V<sub>i</sub> – Individual variance component; V<sub>p</sub> - phenotype variance component;  $h^2$  – Heritability;  $r^2$  – Repeatability.

### 5.2.2. Correlation of BLUP estimates for udder shape and milkability traits

Mean average milk flow (Avgm) was  $0.48 \pm 0.047$  kg/min and a mean peak flow rate (Mmf)  $0.52 \pm 0.071$  kg/min. Mean milking time (Mt) was  $1.23 \pm 0.139$  min and the mean milk quantity per milking (My) was  $0.47 \pm 0.055$  kg. Milking interval and the number of lactations did not affect these means. Farm and stage of lactation were significant effects (P < 0.01) in all of the analyses. Average and peak milk flow were the lowest in mid- lactation. Unlike Avgf, that was the highest in late lactation, Mmf was the highest at the beginning of lactation. Milking time was the shortest in late lactation and the longest in mid- lactation. Milk yield per milking was the highest at the beginning of the lactation. It decreased in mid-lactation and even more at the end of lactation. As in Avgm, Mmf and Mt, it differed more among the farms than through lactation.

The additive genetic correlations were estimated using the udder shape and milkability BLUP values of additive genetic effects. The correlation coefficients are shown in Table 9. The milking time was positively correlated with milk yield and udder height in late lactation, as well as with udder width in mid- and late lactation. Milk yield was positively correlated with peak and average milk flow rate, as well as with udder height in mid-lactation, and width in mid- and late lactation. The peak flow rate was positively correlated to average milk flow. The teat angle was positively correlated with cistern height and udder height at the beginning of lactation, while it was negatively correlated with udder height and width at mid-lactation. The udder height at the beginning of lactation, while it was negatively correlated with udder height at mid-lactation. The udder height at the beginning of lactation, while it was negatively correlated with udder height at mid-lactation. The udder height at the beginning of lactation, while it was negatively correlated with udder height at mid-lactation. The udder height at the beginning of lactation, but positively correlated with udder width at the beginning of lactation, but positively correlated with udder width at the beginning of lactation. The udder width at the beginning of lactation was negatively correlated with udder width at the beginning of lactation.

The highest positive coefficients of correlation were noted between milking time and yield (0.70), average and peak milk flow (0.88), and teat angle and cistern height (0.74). The highest negative correlation coefficients were found between udder height (-0.46) and width (-0.46) in the beginning of lactation, and height and width in mid – lactation.

# 5.2.3. Udder shape traits differences of ewe means and BLUP estimates - hand and machine milking

When examining the means of udder shape traits measurements and BLUPs, we found differences between udder shape of ewes from farms that milk by hand and the farms that apply machine milking. Differences of the means are reported in Table 10. Significant differences of means between ewes milked by machine and by hand were found in teat angle and cistern height averages, but not in udder height and width averages across lactation. All BLUP values showed differences, except for teat angle. The BLUP values for Fh and Mw were predicted separately for beginning, mid-, and late lactation. Teat angle averages across lactation, and range, were smaller in ewes on farms that apply machine milking. Cistern height was smaller in machine milked ewes as well, however, the range did not differ remarkably. BLUP values for Cis were negative (-0.02) for machine milked ewes, and positive in hand milked ewes (0.12), showing the same pattern as the measurements: smaller cisternal part below the teat orifice in machine milked ewes. BLUP values for full udder height in the beginning of lactation were negative in machine milked ewes (-0.11), opposed to hand milked ewes (0.26). Mid- and late lactation Fh BLUP values showed the opposite pattern, and were better in machine milked ewes (-0.10 and 0.03 respectively). Udder width BLUPs across whole lactation were better in machine milked ewes as well.

	Mt	My	Mmf	Avgm	Alpha	Cis	Fh-1	Fh-2	Fh-3	Mw-1	Mw-2	Mw-3
Mt	1	0.704 ***	0.100	-0.168	-0.065	-0.010	-0.028	0.172	0.190 *	-0.131	0.256 **	0.239 **
Му		1	0.496 ***	0.288	0.021	0.033	-0.083	0.289 **	0.112	-0.063	0.367 ***	0.203 *
Mmf			1	0.875 ***	-0.035	-0.081	-0.166	0.057	-0.026	0.088	0.156	-0.037
Avgm				1	0.005	-0.007	-0.142	-0.024	-0.079	0.079	0.056	-0.108
Alpha					1	0.743 ***	0.152 **	-0.191 **	0.024	0.028	-0.165 **	-0.030
Cis						1	0.357 ***	-0.135 **	0.032	0.137 **	-0.091	0.021
Fh-1							1	-0.463 ***	-0.340 ***	0.484 ***	-0.247 ***	-0.207 ***
Fh-2								1	-0.027	-0.288 ***	0.617 ***	-0.073
Fh-3									1	-0.158 **	0.030	0.551 ***
Mw-1										1	-0.457 ***	-0.273 ***
Mw-2											1	0.047

Table 9. Correlation coefficients among morphometry BLUPs and milk flow kinetics' BLUPS studied in Istrian sheep.

\*\*\* P < 0.0001, \*\* P < 0.001, \* P < 0.05

BLUP values: Mt – Machine milking time (min); My – Machine milking yield (kg); Mmf - Peak flow rate (kg/min); Avgm - Average milk flow (kg/min); Alpha – The angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder (°); Cis – Height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice (cm); Fh-1 – Full udder height during the first measuring day (cm); Fh-2 – Full udder height during the second measuring day (cm); Fh-3 – Full udder height during the first measuring day (cm); Mw-2 – Maximum udder width during the second measuring day (cm); Mw-3 – Maximum udder width during the third measuring day (cm).

	Machir	ne milking	Hand	milking		
	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max
Mw	10.71 ± 0.12	7.56	15.84	11.27 ± 0.21	8.30	14.15
Fh	13.65 ± 0.14	8.83	21.41	13.02 ± 0.29	9.21	17.21
Alpha	38.17ª ± 0.77	7.31	74.29	42.62 <sup>b</sup> ± 1.17	13.00	82.01
Cis	1.33 <sup>c</sup> ± 0.04	0	4.16	$1.76^{d} \pm 0.07$	0	4.40
B-Fh1	-0.11 <sup>c</sup> ± 0.024	-1.15	1.17	$0.26^{d} \pm 0.034$	-0.46	1.60
B-Fh2	-0.10 <sup>a</sup> ± 0.022	-1.54	1.05	-0.21 <sup>b</sup> ± 0.031	-1.43	0.60
B-Fh3	$0.03^{\circ} \pm 0.021$	-0.82	1.10	-0.07 <sup>d</sup> ± 0.014	-0.57	0.44
B-Mw1	-0.01 <sup>c</sup> ± 0.020	-0.74	0.94	$0.14^{d} \pm 0.022$	-0.80	0.97
B-Mw2	-0.03 <sup>c</sup> ± 0.018	-0.60	0.79	$-0.12^{d} \pm 0.019$	-0.75	0.39
B-Mw3	$0.03^{a} \pm 0.013$	-0.56	0.80	-0.02 <sup>b</sup> ± 0.011	-0.40	0.53
B-Alpha	1.06 ± 0.444	-19.16	24.47	1.46 ± 0.402	-15.27	16.88
B-Cis	-0.02 <sup>a</sup> ± 0.030	-1.18	2.04	0.12 <sup>b</sup> ± 0.034	-1.17	2.00

Table 10. Mean differences of ewe mean measurements, and BLUPs of udder shape traits regarding type of milking applied on farm of Istrian sheep.

Means in the rows with superscript differ regarding the type of milking applied: <sup>a</sup>,<sup>b</sup> P < 0.001; <sup>c</sup>, <sup>d</sup> P < 0.01. Mw - Maximum udder width (cm); Fh - Full udder height (Fh); Alpha - angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder (°); Cis - Height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice (cm); B-Fh1-Full udder height BLUP during the 1<sup>st</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Fh2- Full udder height BLUP during the 2<sup>nd</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Fh3- Full udder height BLUP during the 1<sup>st</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Mw2- Maximum udder width BLUP during the 1<sup>st</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Mw2- Maximum udder width BLUP during the 1<sup>st</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Mw2- Maximum udder width BLUP during the 1<sup>st</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Mw2- Maximum udder width BLUP during the 2<sup>nd</sup> measuring day (cm); B-Mw3 - Maximum udder width BLUP during the 3<sup>rd</sup> measuring day (cm) ; B-Alpha – BLUP value of the teat angle (°) ; B-Cis – BLUP value of the height of the cisternal part below the teat orifice (cm).

### **5.3. MOLECULAR DIVERSITY**

# 5.3.1. Diversity and variability in comparison with eleven pramenka breeds

We identified a high level of genetic diversity based on the analysis of the 28 loci (Table 11). A total of 392 different alleles were identified in the 341 genotyped individuals. The average number of alleles per locus was 14. The highest number of detected alleles recorded was 26 for marker *HUJ616*, whereas *ETH10* showed only three alleles (Table 11). The PIC values per marker varied from 0.142 (for *ETH10*) to 0.943 (for *OarCP49*). The highest Ho was recorded for locus *HSC* (0.854). The highest He was estimated for locus *INRA132* (0.889). In the global population, accounting for multiple tests (28 loci, 12 populations), 13 loci were found to be in HW disequilibrium, with the average number of 2.5 populations in disequilibrium per marker. The maximum of six populations in HW disequilibrium was recorded for marker *OarFCB128*. Non-amplifying null alleles showed frequency estimates ranging from 0.0030 (*BM8125*) to 0.3634 (*BM1824*) (Table 11). Marker *BM1824* was excluded from subsequent analysis of genetic differentiation due to the high estimated frequency of null allele. Hence, the results of genetic variability for the 12 studied populations are given based on the remaining 27 microsatellite markers analysed.

Marker	А	Ho	He	HWE	F(null)	Fis	PIC
HUJ616	26	0.678	0.727	**	0.033	0.047	0.706
MAF214	10	0.458	0.603	***	0.122	0.188	0.559
MCM140	12	0.801	0.825	n.s.	0.049	-0.001	0.804
OarHH47	16	0.752	0.857	***	0.058	0.079	0.842
TCRVB6	16	0.824	0.821	n.s.	0.035	-0.047	0.804
TCRGC4B	20	0.702	0.836	***	0.070	0.132	0.823
SPS115	11	0.632	0.749	**	0.064	0.107	0.711
SPS113	13	0.759	0.748	n.s.	0.009	-0.038	0.713
FCB304	15	0.691	0.681	n.s.	0.010	-0.050	0.642
OarFCB128	12	0.615	0.828	***	0.121	0.227	0.838
OarCP49	25	0.767	0.876	***	0.060	0.073	0.943
MCM527	12	0.695	0.756	n.s.	0.033	0.029	0.726
MAF65	12	0.761	0.799	n.s.	0.012	-0.00019	0.770
MAF209	13	0.684	0.818	***	0.071	0.114	0.797
INRA132	16	0.831	0.889	*	0.035	0.036	0.878
INRA063	20	0.729	0.789	n.s.	0.037	-0.00048	0.765
ILSTS011	8	0.712	0.792	*	0.052	0.060	0.761
ILSTS005	11	0.542	0.672	***	0.091	0.148	0.630
HSC	17	0.855	0.887	n.s.	0.010	-0.015	0.876
ETH10	3	0.158	0.152	n.s.	0.051	-0.099	0.142
CSRD247	20	0.710	0.821	***	0.053	0.075	0.801
BM1824	4	0.589	0.684	**	0.363	0.096	0.626
BM8125	9	0.706	0.711	n.s.	0.003	-0.049	0.677
DYMS1	16	0.709	0.730	n.s.	0.011	0.002	0.711
JMP29	22	0.836	0.844	n.s.	0.022	-0.040	0.827
OarCP34	7	0.694	0.755	n.s.	0.044	0.069	0.719
OarJMP58	17	0.750	0.800	n.s.	0.027	-0.010	0.780
OarVH72	9	0.732	0.796	n.s.	0.103	0.036	0.774
Overall	392	0.692	0.759				

Table 11. Genetic diversity parameters estimated for the 28 microsatellite loci

A = Number of alleles per locus, Ho = Average observed heterozygosity, He = Average expected heterozygosity, HWE = Deviation from the HW equilibrium (\* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001, n.s. non-significant), F(null) = Frequency of null alleles estimated for each locus, Fis = Coefficient of inbreeding, PIC = polymorphic information content.

Considering detected alleles per population per locus, one marker was found to be fixed in three populations (ETH10 in RUD, PAG, CRE), whereas the highest number of alleles was 15 (*TCRGC4B* in STO). In total, 61 private alleles were sampled (total N of alleles for 27 marker was 387), and were distributed across all populations. The highest numbers of private alleles were noted in PAG (12) and IST (10) breeds (Table 12). The highest frequencies of private alleles were observed in CRE for TB6 (0.18), RAB for HSC (0.16), and CRE for ILST5 (0.14). The largest rarefacted mean number of alleles per locus (MNA), when all of the markers are considered jointly, was found in STO (8.63). Similar MNA values were estimated for VLA, KUP and DAL (Table 12). Average Ho values among all of the populations were high and resembling; ranging from  $0.643 \pm 0.145$  (LIK) to  $0.743 \pm 0.129$ (VLA). Likewise, the average He values varied from  $0.643 \pm 0.142$  (LIK) to  $0.757 \pm 0.120$ (DAL) (Table 12). Possible artefacts due to the different sample sizes can be ruled out, since the values obtained after the sample size correction did not show remarkable differences when compared to the diversity estimates reported above. Fis was estimated for each locus in the global population and for each population across loci. Estimated Fis values for the markers ranged from -0.099 (ETH10) to 0.227 (OarFCB128) (Table 12), and were positive and significant (P<0.05) for 13 markers, while for six of them the values were high. High Fis value for OarFCB128 was evident in 10 of the breeds, ranging from 0.026 (DAL) to 0.484 (KRK). Considering the individual populations, half of them showed significant (P<0.05), positive and low Fis values (Table 12). The highest significant Fis values were estimated for RAB and KUP (Fis= 0.091, P<0.001).

		-				
Group	n	Ho	He	MNA	pА	Fis
CRE	25	0.699 ± 0.225	0.664 ± 0.192	6.51	2	-0.033
DAL	25	0.718 ± 0.146	0.757 ± 0.120	8.53	8	0.072***
IST	69	0.684 ± 0.149	0.722 ± 0.148	7.18	10	0.061***
KRK	23	0.699 ± 0.166	0.726 ± 0.130	7.93	2	0.060**
KUP	25	0.700 ± 0.169	0.752 ± 0.125	8.61	3	0.091***
LIK	25	0.643 ± 0.145	0.643 ± 0.142	6.03	4	0.021
PAG	25	0.693 ± 0.188	0.707 ± 0.166	8.06	12	0.040*
PRI	25	0.720 ± 0.184	0.711 ± 0.158	7.77	2	0.008
RAB	25	0.652 ± 0.187	0.701 ± 0.155	7.04	2	0.091***
RUD	25	0.698 ± 0.218	0.691 ± 0.187	7.71	5	0.010
STO	25	0.723 ± 0.157	0.730 ± 0.149	8.63	6	0.031
VLA	24	0.743 ± 0.129	0.749 ± 0.121	8.62	5	0.030
Overall	341	0.707	0.765	8.92	61	

Table 12. Genetic variability parameters estimated for the 12 populations of sheep

studied, based on the analysis of the 27 microsatellite markers.

n = Sample size, Ho = Average observed heterozygosity (± SD), He = Average expected heterozygosity (± SD), MNA = Mean number of alleles (rarefacted), pA = Number of private alleles, Fis = coefficient of inbreeding. Fis estimates and significance of the deviation of HW equilibrium per population across the 27 loci (\* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001).

CRE – Cres island sheep, DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep, IST – Istrian sheep, KRK – Krk island sheep, KUP – Kupres pramenka sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka, PAG – Pag island sheep, PRI – Privor pramenka, RAB – Rab island sheep, RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda, STO – Hum/Stolac pramenka, VLA – Vlasic/Travnik/Dub pramenka.

group	CRE	DAL	IST	KRK	KUP	LIK	PAG	PRI	RAB	RUD	STO	VLA
CRE	-	0.074***	0.066***	0.058***	0.063***	0.149***	0.047***	0.072***	0.091***	0.078***	0.063***	0.063***
DAL	3.13	-	0.039***	0.033***	0.015***	0.082***	0.033***	0.025***	0.043***	0.054***	0.023***	0.018***
IST	3.54	6.09	-	0.026***	0.028***	0.104***	0.029***	0.042***	0.055***	0.056***	0.038***	0.028***
KRK	4.04	7.28	9.35	-	0.022***	0.106***	0.020***	0.035***	0.040***	0.062***	0.032***	0.027***
KUP	3.75	15.99	8.52	11.11	-	0.071***	0.030***	0.024***	0.047***	0.040***	0.015***	0.007*
LIK	1.43	2.79	2.16	2.12	3.27	-	0.106***	0.108***	0.114***	0.120***	0.097***	0.074***
PAG	5.04	7.32	8.27	12.22	8.04	2.10	-	0.035***	0.034***	0.058***	0.032***	0.028***
PRI	3.23	9.91	5.68	6.98	10.33	2.05	6.90	-	0.055***	0.058***	0.034***	0.013**
RAB	2.51	5.52	4.29	6.06	5.11	1.94	7.15	4.28	-	0.088***	0.054***	0.050***
RUD	2.94	4.40	4.20	3.77	6.05	1.84	4.02	4.10	2.59	-	0.040***	0.042***
STO	3.69	10.60	6.30	7.50	16.46	2.33	7.57	7.12	4.37	5.97	-	0.021***
VLA	3.75	13.63	8.71	8.90	33.84	3.14	8.74	18.68	4.72	5.64	11.42	-

Table 13. Genetic differentiation parameters estimated for the 12 populations of sheep in the present study based on analysis of 27 microsatellite markers.

Pair-wise genetic distances (Fst) with their significance levels (\* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001), and number of effective migrants per generation (Nm) are presented above and below the diagonal, respectively.

CRE – Cres island sheep, DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep, IST – Istrian sheep, KRK – Krk island sheep, KUP – Kupres pramenka sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka, PAG – Pag island sheep, PRI – Privor pramenka, RAB – Rab island sheep, RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda, STO – Hum/Stolac pramenka, VLA – Vlasic/Travnik/Dub pramenka.

For the 12 considered groups, the genetic differentiation estimates of pair-wise Wright's fixation index (Fst) were low (0.007 for VLA-KUP pair) to considerable (0.149 for LIK-CRE pair) (Table 13). Largest genetic differentiation was found for the LIK population and the estimated Fst coefficients ranged between 0.071 and 0.149. Even for the substantial genetic differentiation identified for LIK, the estimates for the number of effective migrants (Nm) were very low (1.43 to 3.27). In contrast, KUP showed a low level of differentiation, with Fst coefficients reaching maximally 0.063 (KUP-CRE). The highest gene flow was estimated for the KUP-VLA pair (33.84), and both of these groups had the highest estimates for the gene flow compared with other populations (Table 13). AMOVA showed a significant (P<0.001) and higher source of variation within (94.79%) than among (5.21%) populations (Table 14). The Fst value (0.052) obtained by this analysis suggested a moderate genetic differentiation for the global population. Variance components among populations were highly significant (P<0.001) for all of the studied loci, and markers OarJMP58 and INRA063 contributed to explain 8.05% and 8.57% of the variability, respectively. Utility-wise and geography-wise nested AMOVA showed similar results (Table 14), with more variability among populations than between geographical or utility groups. In the factorial correspondence analysis, the first three components together accounted for 43.42% of the variation, and explained 16.73%, 13.78% and 12.91% of the total variation, respectively. The first component separates the LIK and CRE groups from the rest of the populations (Figure 7). Addition of the second component confirms the differentiation of CRE and IST, while the third component separated IST and demonstrated the isolation of LIK from all of the other populations.
Table 14. Global AMOVA results for the 12 populations under study and results of the nested AMOVA performed by grouping the

sheep geographically<sup>a</sup> and utilitywise<sup>b</sup>.

Source of veriation	Degrees of	Sum of	Variance	Percentage	Fst
	freedom	squares	components	of variation	estimate
Among populations	11	417.335	0.514	5.29	
Within populations	670	6 172.428	0.213	94.71	0.053***
Among groups geographically <sup>a</sup>	1	64.16	0.074	0.76	0.008**
Among populations within groups	10	352.17	0.474	4.85	0.050***
Within populations	670	6 172.43	9.213	94.39	0.056***
Among groups utilitywise <sup>b</sup>	1	60.00	0.060	0.61	0.006*
Among populations within groups	10	357.33	0.481	4.94	0.050***
Within populations	670	6 172.43	9.213	94.45	0.056***

Genetic distances (Fst) with their significance levels are indicated (\* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001).

<sup>a</sup> Geographically: Islands and peninsula (IST, KRK, CRE, PAG, RAB, RUD); mainland (DAL, LIK, KUP, VLA, PRI, STO).

<sup>b</sup> Utilitywise: Group used predominately for milk (IST, KRK, CRE, PAG, RAB, VLA); group used predominately for meat (DAL, LIK, KUP, PRI, STO, RUD).



The percentage of inertia explained by each component is indicated next to the axes names. CRE – Cres island sheep, DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep, IST – Istrian sheep, KRK – Krk island sheep, KUP – Kupres pramenka sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka, PAG – Pag island sheep, PRI – Privor pramenka, RAB – Rab island sheep, RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda, STO – Hum/Stolac pramenka, VLA – Vlasic/Travnik/Dub pramenka.

Figure 7. Spatial representation of the 12 populations of sheep analysed, based on the results of the factorial correspondence analysis of 341 individual and 27-locus genotypes. The most appropriate number of clusters for the 12 populations according to Delta *K* (7.92) was ascertained to be 12, and the best value of  $\ln \Pr(X|K)$  for K = 12 was -30 947.2 (Figure 8).

Graphical representation of the clustering outcomes suggested for K = 12 is shown in Figure 9, and the proportion of membership for the identified clusters is provided in Table 15. Populations CRE, LIK and RAB were each associated to their own cluster, for which the corresponding estimated membership coefficient (Q) was higher than 0.725. RUD, IST, PRI and PAG populations were also assigned to their own clusters, but due to a higher admixture level, their highest estimated membership was moderate and higher than 0.539. The admixtures were low and homogeneously distributed, except in PRI, which was influenced by VLA related cluster 12, and PAG, which showed influence of cluster 11. For populations VLA, DAL, KRK, STO, and KUP, the higher proportion of membership was lower than 0.417 and showed influence of many of the identified clusters. Although there are 12 clusters for 12 populations, cluster 11 does not seem to correspond to any of the sampled populations in particular. It influences most of the populations to some extent, except for the CRE, LIK, and PRI populations. The second most heterogeneous cluster is the VLA-related Cluster 12, influenced by the STO, PRI and KUP populations. All of the 12 analysed sheep breeds showed, to some degree, a "background" influence from the two rustic populations, DAL and VLA.



a) Mean likelihood L (K) (±SD) over 20 runs for each K value tested; b) Delta K curve estimated according to Evano et al. (2005). Graphics obtained with the Structure Harvester software 0.6.92 (Earl and vonHoldt, 2011).

Figure 8. Graphical representation of the results of the structure population analysis used to determine the true number of clusters (K) of the sheep populations analysed in this work.



Each colour represents one cluster, and the length of the vertical coloured bar represents the individuals' estimated proportion of membership in that cluster. Black lines separate the individuals of the 12 studied populations. CRE – Cres island sheep, DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep, IST – Istrian sheep, KRK – Krk island sheep, KUP – Kupres pramenka sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka, PAG – Pag island sheep, PRI – Privor pramenka, RAB – Rab island sheep, RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda, STO – Hum/Stolac pramenka, VLA – Vlasic/Travnik/Dub pramenka.

Figure 9. Graphical presentation of the clustering outcome suggested by the Bayesian analysis performed to assess the structure of the studied populations at K=12.

Group	Cluster											
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
CRE	0.009	0.017	0.022	0.012	0.807	0.012	0.010	0.007	0.017	0.029	0.016	0.042
DAL	0.338	0.053	0.046	0.015	0.016	0.160	0.013	0.021	0.032	0.053	0.163	0.091
IST	0.019	0.013	0.133	0.650	0.017	0.024	0.014	0.011	0.016	0.018	0.043	0.039
KRK	0.048	0.021	0.417	0.030	0.014	0.053	0.009	0.010	0.016	0.026	0.279	0.077
KUP	0.120	0.073	0.029	0.033	0.015	0.224	0.030	0.032	0.013	0.032	0.236	0.163
LIK	0.033	0.008	0.010	0.013	0.007	0.018	0.020	0.822	0.011	0.028	0.012	0.018
PAG	0.014	0.011	0.078	0.027	0.047	0.060	0.014	0.012	0.043	0.539	0.128	0.026
PRI	0.045	0.604	0.017	0.010	0.007	0.053	0.014	0.006	0.009	0.040	0.018	0.178
RAB	0.038	0.009	0.013	0.012	0.012	0.017	0.010	0.021	0.725	0.038	0.081	0.022
RUD	0.019	0.037	0.012	0.016	0.013	0.061	0.698	0.011	0.018	0.034	0.046	0.035
STO	0.064	0.087	0.031	0.023	0.022	0.404	0.046	0.013	0.010	0.048	0.090	0.161
VLA	0.079	0.125	0.042	0.024	0.017	0.109	0.028	0.043	0.014	0.094	0.075	0.350

Table 15. Proportion of membership for the 12 sheep populations across the clusters identified in the assignment analysis.

The highest contribution is shown in bold. CRE – Cres island sheep, DAL – Dalmatian pramenka sheep, IST – Istrian sheep, KRK – Krk island sheep, KUP – Kupres pramenka sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka, PAG – Pag island sheep, PRI – Privor pramenka, RAB – Rab island sheep, RUD – Dubrovnik Ruda, STO – Hum/Stolac pramenka, VLA – Vlasic/Travnik/Dub pramenka.

### 5.3.2. Comparison of Istrian sheep populations in Croatia and Slovenia

An additional analysis was performed to compare Istrian sheep population from Croatia (ISTc) and Slovenia (ISTs), using the well differentiated LIK and less differentiated KRK as groups for comparison. A total of 291 different alleles were found in 103 genotyped individuals. The average number of alleles per locus was 10.39. The highest number of detected alleles recorded was 18 for marker *HUJ616*. The PIC values per marker varied from 0.142 (for *ETH10*), to 0.943 (for OarCP49) (Table 16). In the global population, and accounting for the multiple tests performed (28 loci, 4 populations), 11 loci were found to be in Hardy-Weinberg (HW) disequilibrium (Table 16). Markers *MAF214* and *OarFCB128* were excluded from further analysis since the HWE deviation was recorded in more than half of the populations. Frequencies of non-amplifying null alleles inferred from the heterozygote deficiency for the complete set of makers analysed showed estimates ranging from 0.000 (*ETH10* and *FCB304*) to 0.365 (for *ILSTS011*), and 0.372 (for *BM1824*) (Table 16). The last two markers were excluded from subsequent analyses of genetic diversity and differentiation.

As in previous analysis of the 12 breeds, with the exception of LIK, the local sheep populations (ISTc, ISTs and KRK) revealed a high level of genetic diversity and variability, based on the analysis of the 24 loci (Table 17). Significant (P < 0.05) inbreeding coefficients were found in all four of the populations except LIK (Table 17). The AMOVA analysis showed a significant and higher source of variation within (93.75%) than among (6.25%) populations. The Fst value (0.062, P < 0.001) suggested a moderate genetic differentiation for the global population, and was higher than in the previous analysis of the 12 breeds.

For the ISTc, ISTs, KRK and LIK groups, the genetic differentiation estimates of pairwise Wright's fixation index (Fst) were low (0.015 for ISTc-ISTs pair) to considerable (0.111 for LIK-ISTc pair) (Table 18). The largest genetic differentiation was found for the LIK group and was associated with restricted gene flows with other populations. On the contrary, ISTs showed little differentiation paired with IST and KRK populations. The highest gene flow was estimated for the ISTc-ISTs pair (16.96), and both of these groups showed a considerable estimate for the gene flow with the KRK sheep population (Table 18).

Marker	Multiplex <sup>a</sup>	Ab	Hoc	Hed	HWE <sup>e</sup>	F(null) <sup>f</sup>	Fis <sup>g</sup>	PIC <sup>h</sup>
OarVH72 <sup>i</sup>	PET, 56°C	8	0.775	0.797	n.s.	0.083	0.011	0.771
OarJMP58 <sup>i</sup>	6-FAM, 56ºC	13	0.706	0.771	n.s.	0.068	0.026	0.747
OarCP34 <sup>i</sup>	6-FAM, 56°C	6	0.677	0.751	n.s.	0.074	0.097	0.713
JMP29 <sup>i</sup>	VIC, 56°C	14	0.825	0.820	n.s.	0.022	-0.049	0.797
DYMS1 <sup>i</sup>	NED, 56°C	12	0.689	0.687	n.s.	0.004	-0.033	0.665
BM8125 <sup>i</sup>	NED, 56°C	8	0.673	0.716	n.s.	0.032	-0.003	0.678
BM1824 <sup>i</sup>	VIC, 56°C	4	0.427	0.648	**	0.372	0.286	0.594
CSRD247	PET, 55⁰C	14	0.743	0.814	n.s.	0.039	0.052	0.791
ETH10	VIC, 55°C	3	0.214	0.192	n.s.	0.000	-0.119	0.175
HSC	6-FAM, 55⁰C	10	0.842	0.848	n.s.	0.041	-0.072	0.832
ILSTS005 <sup>i</sup>	NED, 55°C	8	0.549	0.655	***	0.081	0.155	0.604
ILSTS011 <sup>i</sup>	PET, 55°C	7	0.696	0.787	*	0.365	0.097	0.756
INRA063 <sup>i</sup>	6-FAM, 55°C	12	0.657	0.713	n.s.	0.009	-0.014	0.670
INRA132	VIC, 55°C	14	0.804	0.900	*	0.093	0.081	0.892
MAF209 <sup>i</sup>	PET, 55⁰C	11	0.677	0.808	**	0.074	0.096	0.784
MAF65 <sup>i</sup>	VIC, 55°C	11	0.657	0.758	n.s.	0.048	0.081	0.727
МсМ527 <sup>і</sup>	NED, 55°C	6	0.608	0.630	n.s.	0.026	-0.013	0.595
OarCP49	VIC, 55°C	15	0.711	0.873	**	0.095	0.129	0.935
OarFCB128 <sup>i</sup>	6-FAM, 55°C	9	0.505	0.802	***	0.289	0.347	0.791
FCB304 <sup>i</sup>	PET, 55⁰C	11	0.784	0.742	n.s.	0.000	-0.094	0.708
SPS113	NED, 55°C	10	0.777	0.758	n.s.	0.004	-0.033	0.728
SPS115	VIC, 55°C	8	0.598	0.725	*	0.084	0.078	0.678
TCRGC4B	NED, 55°C	15	0.695	0.807	**	0.068	0.107	0.790
TCRVB6	NED, 55°C	11	0.767	0.762	n.s.	0.035	-0.030	0.737
OarHH47 <sup>i</sup>	6-FAM, 58ºC	15	0.778	0.858	n.s.	0.052	0.018	0.842
MCM140 <sup>i</sup>	6-FAM, 58ºC	10	0.753	0.767	n.s.	0.058	-0.022	0.734
MAF214 <sup>i</sup>	VIC, 58°C	8	0.485	0.644	***	0.143	0.203	0.596
HUJ616 <sup>i</sup>	VIC, 58°C	18	0.592	0.741	**	0.087	0.192	0.713
Overall		291	0.667	0.742	***			

Table 16. Genetic diversity parameters estimated for the 28 microsatellite loci (more than 95% genotyping success) analysed in the ISTc, ISTs, LIK and KRK.

<sup>a</sup> The three multiplexes are indicated by the fluorochorme used for the marker and the annealing temperature of the PCR. <sup>b</sup> A - number of alleles per locus. <sup>c</sup> Ho - average observed heterozygosity. <sup>d</sup> He - average expected heterozygosity. <sup>e</sup> HWE - significant deviation from the Hardy-Weinberg

equilibrium (\* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001, n.s. – not significant). <sup>f</sup> F(null) - frequency of null alleles estimated for each locus. <sup>g</sup> Fis - coefficient of inbreeding. <sup>h</sup> PIC - polymorphic information content. <sup>i</sup> FAO recommended marker for sheep diversity. ISTc – Istrian sheep population from Croatia, ISTs – Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, KRK – Krk Island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka sheep.

# Table 17. Genetic variability parameters estimated for ISTc, ISTs, KRK and LIK populations, based on the analysis of the 24 microsatellite markers.

Group	nª	Hob	Hec	MNA <sup>d</sup>	pA <sup>e</sup>	Fis <sup>f</sup>
ISTc	35	0.695 ± 0.163	0.714 ± 0.148	5.88	20	0.042*
ISTs	20	0.694 ± 0.160	0.710 ± 0.148	6.08	12	0.052*
KRK	23	0.723 ± 0.153	0.732 ± 0.133	6.73	24	0.035*
LIK	25	0.648 ± 0.150	0.634 ± 0.147	5.22	11	-0.001
Overall	103	0.668	0.745	6.71	67	

<sup>a</sup> n - sample size. <sup>b</sup> Ho - average observed heterozygosity (± SD). <sup>c</sup> He average expected heterozygosity (± SD). <sup>d</sup> MNA - mean number of alleles (rarefacted). <sup>e</sup> pA - number of private alleles. <sup>f</sup> Fis estimates and significance of the deviation of HWE per population across the 24 loci analysed (\* P<0.05). ISTc – Istrian sheep population from Croatia, ISTs – Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, KRK – Krk Island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka sheep.

Table 18. Genetic differentiation parameters estimated for ISTc, ISTs, KRK and LIK,

on the basis of the 24 microsatellite markers.

Group	ISTc	KRK	LIK	ISTs
ISTc	-	0.027	0.111	0.015
KRK	8.99	-	0.108	0.025
LIK	2.01	2.08	-	0.102
ISTs	16.96	9.86	2.21	-

Significant (P<0.001) pair-wise genetic distances (Fst) (above diagonal), and number of effective migrants per generation (Nm) (below the diagonal). ISTc – Istrian sheep population from Croatia, ISTs – Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, KRK – Krk Island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka sheep.

In the factorial correspondence analysis, the first three components together accounted for 100% of the variation (Figure 10). As visible from the scatter plot, the first component, which explained 52.78% of the variation separates the mountain LIK breed from Adriatic sheep (ISTc, ISTs and KRK). The second component, explaining 28.93% of the variation, separates KRK from both ISTc and ISTs. Finally, the third component, which explained 18.29%, showed a certain separation of the two Istrian sheep populations under study, although they showed a close genetic relationship.

Values of mean log-likelihood and estimates of  $\Delta K$  are represented in Figure 11. The Evannos' method implemented in Structure Harvester software 0.6.8 (Dent and vonHoldt, 2012) showed that the highest mean log-likelihood was reached when K was set to seven. However, the plateau on the graphic was reached at K=3 as can be seen in Figure 11a). Delta K curve (Figure 11 b) shows the largest  $\Delta K$  when K=2 with the second largest value for K= 3. Other authors identifying a similar discrepancy have reported maximal  $\Delta K$  at K = 2 to be an artefact resulting from markedly low likelihoods for K = 1 (Vigouroux *et al.*, 2008). Based on this and the biological significance of the results, K = 3 was chosen as the final estimated number of groups.

The proportion of membership for the identified three clusters is provided in Table 19. Estimated membership coefficients were high (Q > 0.87) for LIK, KRK and ISTc. Cluster 3 was found to be LIK related (0.899), and Cluster 1 was KRK related (0.889). Cluster 2 was found to be Istrian sheep related, although it showed a stronger influence on ISTc (0.870) than on ISTs samples (0.501). At a similar level the ISTs regional group was influenced by Cluster 1 (0.464). KRK also showed sub structuring with 8% of the samples grouping to Cluster 2 (0.095). However, this admixture was lower than in ISTs, where 50% of the sample was assigned to the KRK related Cluster 1. Although there was some influence of the KRK related Cluster 1 in ISTc samples, it was mostly due to low admixtures at the individual samples, and only 14% of the ISTc sample was assigned to the KRK related Cluster 1 (Figure 12).



The percentage of inertia explained by each component is indicated next to the axes names. ISTc – Istrian sheep population from Croatia, ISTs – Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, KRK – Krk Island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka sheep.

Figure 10. Spatial representation of the 103 individuals of the four populations of sheep analysed based on the results of the factorial correspondence analysis for 24-locus genotypes.



- a) Mean likelihood L (K) (±SD) over 8 runs for each K value tested;
- b) Delta K curve estimated according to Evano et al. (2005). Graphics obtained with the Structure Harvester software 0.6.92 (Earl and vonHoldt, 2011).

Figure 11. Graphical representation of the results of the structure population analysis used to determine the true number of clusters (K) of the sheep populations analysed in this work.



Each colour represents one cluster, and the length of the vertical coloured bar represents the individuals' estimated proportion of membership in that cluster. Black lines separate the individuals of the four studied populations. ISTc – Istrian sheep population from Croatia, ISTs – Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, KRK – Krk Island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka sheep.

Figure 12. Graphical presentation of the clustering outcome suggested by the Bayesian analysis performed to assess the structure of the four studied populations at K=3.

Table 19. Proportion of membership for the four sheep populations across the three clusters identified in the assignment analysis.

Group	Cluster		
	1	2	3
ISTc	0.122	0.870	0.008
KRK	0.889	0.095	0.015
LIK	0.077	0.025	0.899
ISTs	0.464	0.501	0.035

The highest cluster contribution for each population is shown in bold font. ISTc – Istrian sheep population from Croatia, ISTs – Istrian sheep population from Slovenia, KRK – Krk Island sheep, LIK – Lika pramenka sheep.

### 6. DISCUSSION

# 6.1. Environmental and genetic effects: milk yield and quality

# 6.1.1. Means ad fixed effects

The estimated average daily milk yield (MY) of the total population was  $1.68 \pm 0.069$  kg, which is higher than the highest corrected daily milk yield between the 20<sup>th</sup> and the 30<sup>th</sup> day of lactation (1.37 kg) reported by Vrdoljak et al. (2012) for Istrian sheep in Croatia, and is also higher than the average reported for dual purpose Istrian sheep in Slovenia, dairy Bovec and improved Bovec in Slovenia (Komprej *et al.*, 2009; 2012), dual purpose Lacaune in Slovakia (1.05 kg, Oravcova *et al.*, 2006) and similar to the dairy Lacaune breed (1.6 l, Berger, 2004), but lower than Assaf (1.93 l, Pollot and Gootwine, 2004) or East Friesian breed (2.33 kg, Hamann *et al.*, 2004). The differences reported for MY mean of Istrian sheep in Slovenia could be due to the fact that this breed is reared in Croatia predominately for milk, while the duality of purpose may be more pronounced in Slovenia. Difference of MY means reported for animals reared in Croatia could be because of different records analysed and different models used (the years 2005-2009 analysed using general linear model by Vrdoljak *et al.*, 2013). Wilmink curve tends to overestimate daily milk yield in early and late lactation comparison with other models (Cadavez *et al.*, 2008).

The average fat percentage of  $7.04 \pm 0.303$  was similar to that of the Istrian sheep in Slovenia (7.20%; Komprej et al., 2009; 2012), improved Walachian, lower than the one of Tsigai and higher than the fat percentage in the Lacaune (Oravcova *et al.*, 2007) and was in accordance with the values obtained by Vrdoljak et al. (2012) who observed 6.15% - 7.79% depending on the stage of lactation. It was higher than Bovec and improved Bovec in Slovenia (Komprej *et al.*, 2009; 2012). The average protein percentage ( $5.56 \pm 0.066$ ) was similar to that of the improved Walachian, and was lower than in Tsigai and Lacaune (Oravcova *et al.*, 2007), and was in accordance with values obtained by Vrdoljak *et al.* (2012) who observed 5.55 - 6.14%, depending on the stage of lactation. The PC average was lower than in Istrian sheep in Slovenia (5.63%; Komprej *et al.*, 2002; Sanna *et al.*, 1997), higher than in Valle del Belice (Cappio-Borlino *et al.*, 1997), Assaf (de La Fuente 2006) and East Friesian (Hamann *et al.* 2004) and lower than in Greek breeds (Boyazoglu and Morand-Fehr, 2001).

This results show a valuable milk yield and composition in Istrian sheep corresponding to other European indigenous breeds used for cheese production. Istrian sheep shows more favorable milk content traits than European ewes that have been strongly selected for milk yield.

Somatic cell score and lactose percentage are not investigated as often as protein and fat in ewe milk, and estimates and predictions using genetic models were not reported for Istrian sheep so far. Lactose percentage is one of the variables directly associated with milk yield and inversely related to SCC in cows (Schultz, 1977). Mean lactose percentage (4.943  $\pm$ 0.045) was lower than reported in Churra breed (5.35; Fuertes et al., 1998) and in the range reported for Comisana (3.83-5.21 depending on the stage of lactation and lambing season; Sevi et al., 2004). Interestingly, even though LC and MY are directly associated, in Istrian sheep LC is lower than in Churra, but MY is higher. In this regard, Istrian sheep appears to be more similar to Comisana sheep breed. Mean SCS  $(5.31 \pm 0.3340)$  was similar to that of Churra population (4.95±0.01) analysed by Fuertes et al. (1998) as well as of intensively reared Comisana ewes (5.60 - 627 Sevi et al., 2004); but higher than reported for French dairy Lacaune mean SCS (2.92 - 3.36, depending on the stage of lactation; Rupp et al., 2003) and Manchega sheep (3.76 - 4.44), depending on the stage and number of lactation; Serrano *et al.*, 2003). While in Churra, Manchega and Comisana sheep there was an increase of SCS at the end of lactation explained by lower milk yield at that time, we found light decrease of the mean SCS through lactation, implying either better health conditions towards the end of lactation, or better functional coping of the mammary gland tissue and epithelial cell survival at the end of lactation and milking period (Sevi et al., 1999). Better hygiene conditions at the end of lactation in Istrian sheep could be due to extensive conditions with open karstic pasture and high daily UV index. As in Rupp et al. (2003), there was no increase of SCS with parity that was found in Manchega ewes (Serrano et al., 2003). In fact, we noted the highest value for the first lactation, and the lowest in the 5<sup>th</sup> and further lactations, similar to Fuertes *et al.* (1998), who found lower SCS means in ewes of 4.5 and 5.5 parity age.

Important sources of environmental variation in dairy sheep milk yield, fat and protein content affected Istrian sheep mostly as in other studies. Litter size was exception in this regard, and did not affect any studied trait which was reports also for Valle del Belice breed (Cappio-Borlino *et al.*, 1997). On the contrary, Vrdoljak *et al.* (2013) found that Istrian sheep ewes with multiple births had higher milk yield and lower fat percentage. Other authors, that found strong and significant effect of lambs, tested the effect of suckled lambs rather than litter size (Fuertes *et al.*, 1998). Effect of litter size was found less evident in dairy ewe breeds

in Slovakia (Oravcova *et al.*, 2007), probably due to the fact that the effect of the number of weaned lambs is evident only in breeds of low production level, while in high-producing breeds a positive effect exists only on the first test-day records of 2-lamb ewes (Carta *et al.*, 2009).

LC and MY followed the lactation curve decreasing towards the end of lactation (Fuertes *et al.*, 1998; Vrdoljak *et al.*, 2013; Komprej *et al.*, 2012), as expected since lactose is the main osmotic component in milk and is substantially constant during lactation in healthy animals (Sevi *et al.*, 2004). Almost linear increase towards the end of lactation in PC and FC was expected according to PC and FC trends reported in other studies of dairy sheep milk content (Vrdoljak *et al.*, 2013; Komprej *et al.*, 2012; Oravcova *et al.*, 2007).

As reported for balanced means in Istrian sheep (Vrdoljak *et al.*, 2013), parity did not affect FC in our model. Limited effect was found for LC and PC in Valle del Belice (Cappio-Borlino *et al.*, 1997). Higher FC and PC means through parities have been reported for Churra breed (Fuertes *et al.*, 1998) indicating that the rate of fat and protein content decrease over parities was lower than decrease of milk yield resulting in higher percentages. Contrary to our result for FC, PC showed low values in second parity and increase in the 4<sup>th</sup> parity, coinciding with the decrease of MY. Difference in response of FC and PC to the course of parities may lead to an increase of the ratio between fat and protein in ewes of advanced parities, as reported by Cappio-Borlino *et al.* (1997).

Month of lambing is an important source of variation in ewe milk production, especially in farming systems with large variability in management techniques and environmental conditions (Carta *et al.*, 2009), like the one of Istrian sheep in Croatia. Ewes with spring lambing had the highest PC, and higher FC because of herbage feed rich in fibre. Ewes with winter lambing had the lowest PC, and FC low as in Sevi *et al.* (2004) reported for Comisana, because of feed diet based majorly on hay during those months. In lactating cows, seasonal variations for milk protein and, in a lesser extent, for milk fat were found (Coulon and Remond, 1991), which can be ascribed to a lower prolactin release with shorter photoperiods resulting in less milk with higher content concentration (Marcek and Swanson, 1984). Season of lambing affected milk yield in accordance as reported by Cappio-Borlino *et al.* (1997), who noted that milk yield depends on feed available to ewe during months of pregnancy. Ewes with fall lambing had the highest, and those with spring lambing the lowest SCS mean which can be connected to worse general hygiene conditions during fall and winter months when the ewes are housed and milked in closed barns.

Other fixed effects were included in the models since they are expected to have a remarkable effect in extensive systems based on grazing because of the strong relationship with milk yield as well as the seasonal and annual variations of herbage availability. Farm effect was significant in all traits explaining environment (geography and climate), feed and management practices. Farm in the year effect accounts for random changes in that environment regarding different years and response changes due to different environment (vegetation, financial). Lactation within the year accounts for diverse responses of ewes in different lactations to different year environment. This effect was not significant in PC nor FC. Month within a year effect accounts for differences of the seasons between the years. Even though this effect could be expected to influence SCS, effect was not observed in this study. For the year 2010, the lowest mean SCS was estimated, while the highest was in 2007. The mean for 2012 shows slight increase in comparison to the previous four years.

### 6.1.2. Genetic parameters

Daily milk yield heritability estimate  $(0.017\pm0.009)$  in this study was lower than the values reported to be low in Portuguese Churra, (0.03-0.08; Cadavez et al., 2012), or in Slovak sheep (0.15; Oravcova, 2007), or in Istrian sheep (0.15; Špehar et al., 2012). Milk yield is a trait with a moderate heritability (next to 0.3, Park and Haenlein, 2006), however, exceptionally low heritability values are suggested to be predicted due to extensive production systems (Cadavez et al., 2012). Heritability predicted for milk yield in Slovenian dairy sheep (0.08-0.13) reported to be lower than in other literature (Ligda et al., 2000; Komprej et al., 2003) was a result of differences in the random part of the model (Komprej et al., 2013). Furthermore, our results may also reflect enormous variability in milking practices and management (i. e. stripping, nutrition) in Istrian sheep, as well as a possible effect of the manner of sample collection, as was reported by Othmane et al. (2002). Such records would contain variation, but in a way that is difficult for the model to recognize and partition correctly.

Heritability of PC reported from single trait repeatability fixed regression test-day model by Špehar *et.al.* (2012) was in range with our estimated heritability of protein (0.05 in intercept, to 0.18 in slope). Heritability of FC (0.02 to 0.13) content is also comparable to the estimate reported by Špehar *et al.* (2012). Both estimates were low, since expected values generally range from 0.1 to 0.61 for FC, and 0.31 to 0.69 for PC (Carta *et al.*, 2009). However, similar low values for FC (0.1) were obtained by Oravcova (2007) and by Komprej

*et al.* (2013) for ISTs. Lower heritability estimate for FC was reported by Othmane *et al.* (0.06; 2002), while Oravcova *et al.* (2005) found lower heritabilities for both PC and FC. Heritability for protein was similar to the one reported for Churra (El-Saied *et al.*, 1998), and lower than those found by previously mentioned authors, which fall in the range of 0.20 to 0.25 (Serrano *et al.*, 2001). The same as in other breeds, higher heritability was found for PC than FC (Oravcova *et al.*, 2007; Komprej *et al.*, 2013). The reason behind that fact is that fat content shows more non-genetic variability due to measurement specifics, but also because milk fat content variability is influenced remarkably, and more than PC, by feed.

As in PC and FC analyses, data allowed for expansion of the LC model by modelling the change of additive variance through lactation. Reported additive variances and heritabilities for PC, FC and LC obtained by using Legendre polynomials of first and second order represent the heritability of the trait variability intercept, and the trait variability slope which were the highest in PC. Trend of the PC heritability estimates using Legendre polynomials of third order through lactation in ISTs (Komprej et al., 2013) was sine shaped with the peak around day 79 and the lowest value at 137, after which it increased reaching the maximum value at the end of lactation. Our estimates for both PC and FC heritability had lower minimal values and higher maximum values than those found in ISTs. Also, we found the highest heritability at the beginning of lactation, and the minimum around day 75, after which there was an increasing trend towards the end of lactation. Similar to the FC estimates using Legendre polynomials of third order through lactation in ISTs (Komprej et al., 2013), our estimates for FC heritability were the highest at the end of lactation. However, the trend of the heritability change was different. While in ISTs increasing trend was found over lactation, we observed decrease reaching the minimum around day 75, and growth after that. Opposite trends to the ones we observed were reported for dairy cows (Druet et al., 2005) with the highest FC and PC heritability estimates in mid-lactation.

Relatively small number of authors report on SCS genetic estimation in ewes. However, Rupp *et al.* (2009) found that selection for reducing milk SCS leads to improved resistance to clinical and subclinical intramammary infections in 2 lines of Lacaune sheep. Heritability found for SCS was lower than for MY, and lower than reported for other breeds, where it reached 0.1 to 0.2 (Rupp *et al.*, 2003; Legarra and Ugarte, 2005; Carta *et al.*, 2009), but similar to Serrano *et al.* (2003) for univariate repeatability animal models. This is a first report of SCS genetic parameters estimation in Istrian pramenka.

Lactose content genetic parameters are an interesting trait, because of direct association of LC with MY, and inverse relationship with SCS due to observed drop in LC in

milk of clinically and sub clinically affected ewes (Kalantzopolous, 1994; Sevi *et al.*, 2004). This is the first report of such research in Istrian sheep, performed to obtain preliminary results that could be of further use in developing multivariate models with MY and SCS data. Obtained LC heritability was higher than SCS and MY estimates, with permanent environment by far lower, and repeatability higher than in MY and SCS estimation. This result indicates a marked possibility to use LC with other traits in multivariate genetic models, which are more accurate than repeatability model.

Repeatabilities, except for MY and SCS which were lower than in other studies, were within the range of the reported values. PC repeatability was higher than FC, as was also expected due to differences of the two components that arise during sampling.

Except for LC residual, which was by far the lowest, the pattern of the residual variance corresponds to all previously mentioned univariate and multivariate studies, where the largest residuals are found for FC and the lowest for PC.

#### 6.2. Environmental and genetic effects: udder shape traits

# 6.2.1. Means and trends

Most of authors used scoring scale for evaluation of udder morphometry (De La Fuente *et al.*, 1996; Fernandez *et al.*, 1997; Casu *et al.*, 2002; Serrano *et al.*, 2002; Legarra and Ugarte, 2005; Marie-Etancelin *et al.*, 2005; Kukovics, 2006; Casu *et al.*, 2010). Direct measurements are performed on site, and often include different definition of morphometry traits that coincide with our measurements from digital photographs only in one part, or not at all in the case that the measuring was performed after milking when the udder is empty (Altincekic and Koyuncu, 2011; Iniguez *et al.*, 2009, McKusick *et al.*, 1999; Martinez *et al.*, 2011). Both scoring and on-site measuring were performed by several authors in search of non-subjective and time-effective method (Fernandez *et al.*, 2012). Udder measurements obtained from digital photographs were used by Dzidic *et al.* (2004; 2009), and showed that udder height might be underestimated from digital pictures, while there were no differences between measurements of udder width or cistern height using different methods.

Mean value of full height (Fh) of the udder was smaller than reported for Chios ewes (19.3-22.9 cm depending on the parity), larger than mid – lactation values for Turkish breeds (7.3-7.7 cm, depending on the breed; Altincekic and Koyuncu, 2011), and similar to means of Slovak dairy ewes, especially improved Walachian (13.4 – 18.4 cm, depending on the breed; Milerski *et al.*, 2006). Istrian x Awassi crossbreeds had higher udder (15.9 cm) that did not differ between days 60, 90 and 120 of lactation (Dzidic *et al.*, 2009). Udder depth is a score variable corresponding to Fh (correlation 0.768 - 0.802; Gelasakis *et al.*, 2012; Milerski *et al.*, 2006). Fh was affected by parity the same as in Gelasakis *et al.* (2012), who found the largest Fh mean in the third lactation. Additionally, we found lower means for fourth and for higher parities. Even though in Chios ewes effect of day in lactation was not significant, we found test-day affecting the Fh, which showed the lowest mean at the end of lactation, the same as found for udder depth in Churra (De La Fuente *et al.*, 1996) and length in Chilota and Suffolk Down (Martinez *et al.*, 2011).

Maximum udder width (Mw) was somewhat smaller than in Chios or Istrian x Awassi crossbreeds (14.8-15.3 cm; Gelasakis *et al.*, 2012), but bigger than in Slovak dairy ewes, more similar to Slovak Lacaune (10.6-13.12 cm). As in Chios ewes, the width did not differ with parity. Even though we noted decrease towards late lactation, in Chios days in milk did not

affect the width, and in Churra the difference through lactation was more pronounced (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995). The size of the udder is smaller than in most of the compared breeds, which could indicate smaller cisterns.

In the present study, cistern height below the teat orifice (Cis) was lower than in Churra (1.5 cm), much lower than in Istrian crossbreeds (2.5 - 2.9 cm) or Awassi (3.4 cm; Iniguez *et al.*, 2009), and by far lower than in Chios (4.6 - 5.4 cm), but similar to Slovak Tsigai (1.3 cm). While Fernandez *et al.* (1995) found effect of flock as significant, we did not. While Dzidic *et al.* (2009) did not find the effect of lactation in Istrian crossbreeds, and Gelasakis *et al.* (2013) of days in milk, we found that Cis was lower at the end of lactation, the same as reported for Churra (Fernadez *et al.*, 1995). Gelasakis found that the cistern mean was larger for third parity ewes, and we found an increasing trend through all parities, as did Fernandez *et al.* (1995). This result shows that the udder shape in Istrian sheep is favorable for machine milking, and that the ewe can be milked without additional manipulation of the udder required to empty the udder when the cisternal part below the teat orifice is high.

Teat angle was better than in Churra (50.39°, Fernandez *et al.*, 1995), Istrian crossbreeds (44-49°) and Slovak sheep (38-47°; Milerski *et al.*, 2006). While in Churra it was variable within and among lactations, we did not observe that. Moreover, we did not observe worsening of the teat placement at the end of lactation as was reported for Chios sheep. This kind of teat placement enables proper milking with teat cups attached firmly, and with no air flow entrance that would disturb the vacuum and the milk flow.

# 6.2.2. Genetic parameters

The repeatabilities we obtained for Fh, Mw and Cis were higher than repeatabilities for udder measurements in Chios or Churra ewes (Gelasakis *et al.*, 2012; Fernandez *et al.*, 1996; 1997; Legarra and Ugarte, 2005; Martinez *et al.*, 2011). Generally, the cistern height and teat angle repeatabilities, as well as repeatabilities of corresponding score variables, tend to be higher than repeatabilities of udder size measurements or scores. The values we obtained were similar to measurement repeatabilities in Istrian crossbreeds (Dzidic *et al.*, 2009), with the exception of Cis repeatability. Repeatability in Cis was considerably higher than any score or measurement repeatability in Chios, including the very high corresponding teat placement scoring trait in Chios (0.75; Gelasakis *et al.*, 2012). Correlation of angle measurement with teat position score was high in Tsigai, improved Walachian and Lacaune (0.69 – 0.76; Milerski *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, the teat position score was correlated

strongly to cistern height measurement in the above mentioned research (0.61 - 0.76). Cistern height showed by far the highest values in comparison with other traits in Churra as well (0.77; Fernandez *et al.*, 1996). Unlike in other studies mentioned above, we found teat angle repeatability lower than full udder height, which might be due to the more complex nature of the angle measurement trait measured through digital photographs. Also, repeatability of the Fh might be higher than in Alpha because Fh measurement includes Cis measurement. As was suggested by Fernandez *et al.* (1997), for udder traits with repeatabilities above 0.5, single measurement per lactation would be sufficient for the purpose of addressing the basic selective objectives and criteria.

While linear scoring has been evaluated as a good approach for the purpose of udder shape genetic evaluation (Margetin et al., 2011), we have obtained higher heritability predictions using the measurements from digital photographs. Values were higher than those reported in studies based on genetic parameters of direct udder measurements or different scoring systems (Casu et al., 2002; Legarra and Ugarte, 2005). Full udder height had low heritability prediction similar to the value reported in Churra, Manchega or French Lacaune (Fernandez et al., 1997; Serrano et al., 2002; Marie-Etancelin et al., 2005), but lower than moderate prediction for black-face Latxa reported by Legarra and Ugarte (2005) or Margetin et al. (2011). Interestingly, Cis and Alpha show high heritabilities as well as repeatabilities. Teat angle heritability was higher than reported in French Lacaune or Manchega for teat placement score (0.33 and 0.20, respectively; Marie-Etancelin et al., 2005; Serrano et al., 2009) or teat angle (0.3; Margetin et al., 2011). In all of the above mentioned studies and breeds (French Lacaune, Manchega, Latxa, and in Churra) teat angle was the trait with the highest heritability. However, those studies did not include analysis of cisternal part below the teat orifice. Trait related to Cis that was used in this study would be udder cleft score. Marie-Etancelin et al. (2005) reported heritability for that trait (0.26), which was lower than the teat placement score heritability prediction, or the Cis heritability prediction. Results of the thesis provide the basic parameters for discussion of selective objectives and criteria in the Istrian sheep considering udder shape. Genetic parameters obtained for udder shape show that cistern size would be a more logical target for selection than teat angle, with expectance to account for more appropriate teat position due to the high correlation between the traits.

Intermediate to high heritabilities for udder shape traits measured through digital photographs indicate that there is potential for selection. Moreover, udder shape evaluation using digital photography gives higher heritability estimates than scoring-based systems or direct measurements. It can also be presumed that it provides more comparable results between different countries, considering standardized protocols, in comparison to subjective scoring systems or diverse protocols for direct measurements.

# 6.3. Milkability of Istrian sheep in Croatia: udder shape, milkability

# 6.3.1. Means and fixed effects

Mean average milk flow was similar as reported by Casu et al. (2008), and in the range reported for Lacaune and East Friesian (0.37- 0.67 kg/min, depending on stage of lactation, Bruckmaier et al., 1997), or Istrian crossbreeds (0.36-0.43 kg/min; Dzidic et al., 2004, 0.44 - 0.64, kg/min depending on the stage of lactation; Dzidic et al., 2009), but lower than in Sardinian ewes (Carta et al., 2000). Mean peak flow rate was lower than all the reported values: remarkably lower than in Casu et al., 2008 (19.7 ml/s), lower than in French dairy ewes (12.9 ml/s; Marie Etancelin et al., 2006), or the range reported for Lacaune and East Friesian (0.54 - 1.02 depending on stage of lactation, Bruckmaier et al., 1997), lower than that found for Slovak dairy ewes (0.88-1.07: Tančin et al., 2011; 1.23: Kulinova et al., 2010; 0.74 - 0.83: Mačuhova et al., 2011) and in Istrian crossbreeds (0.53-0.80 and 0.57-0.92: Dzidic et al., 2004; 2009). Peak flow rate mean was most similar to the Mmf of 75% Istrian crossbreeds that had the lowest Mmf in comparison with crossbreeds with lower percentage of Istrian genetic background as reported by Dzidic et al. (2004). Intrinsic factors influencing the peak flow rate, such as teat sphincter opening characteristics, can be improved through selection. However, environmental sources constant through lactation affecting the peak flow rate could be symptomatic of insufficient adaptation of milking setting or machine characteristics to the breed (type and shape of liners, diameters of milk lines and tubes, air entry flow), especially as the lactation stage advances and milk production declines. Therefore, further study accounting for milk machine setting, routine, and physiological response of the ewe is suggested to improve the milking, prior to culling or selection.

Mean milking time (Mt) was lower than the range reported for Lacaune and East Friesian (1.78 - 3.52 min depending on stage of lactation: Bruckmaier *et al.*, 1997), higher than reported for Slovak dairy ewes (0.78 - 1 min : Tančin *et al.*, 2011, Kulinova *et al.*, 2010; Mačuhova *et al.*, 2011) and higher than reported by Casu *et al.* (1.44 min: 2008). Mean milk

quantity per milking was lower than the range reported for Lacaune and East Friesian (0.67 - 1.34 kg depending on stage of lactation: Bruckmaier *et al.*, 1997), and by Casu *et al.* (0.676 l: 2008), or Istrian crossbreeds (Dzidic *et al.*, 2004; 2009) but similar to total milking yield found for Slovak dairy ewes (0.32-0.55 kg : Tančin *et al.*, 2011; 0.41: Kulinova *et al.*, 2010; Mačuhova *et al.*, 2011).

The number of lactations did not affect Avgm, Mmf, Mt nor My means, which is contrary to results of Casu *et al.* (2008) who found Mmf and Avgf to decrease with parity. Additionally, both Casu *et al.* (2008) and Bruckmaier *et al.* (1997) found Mmf and Avgf to decrease towards the end of lactation, while we found Avgf and Mmf to be the lowest in mid-lactation. Unlike Avgf, which was the highest in late lactation, Mmf was the highest at the beginning of lactation. Milking interval did not affect means in our study, while Dzidic *et al.* (2009) found higher peak flow rate, milking time and milk yield in the morning milkings for Istrian crossbreeds. Machine milk yield had decreasing trend through lactation, as expected and reported in other research (Marie Etancelin *et al.*, 2006). Similar decreasing trend is observed in Mt, with the exception of the longest milkings that we observed in mid-lactation.

The highest negative correlation coefficients were found between udder height (-0.463) and width (-0.457) in the beginning of lactation, and height and width in mid – lactation indicating two types of udder that can be observed when the udder is adequately full: high ones; or wide ones. Teat angle and udder height were correlated weakly at the beginning of lactation, indicating coinciding of long udders with unfavourable teat angles. Moreover, negative correlation of teat angle with udder width at mid-lactation indicates cases in which wide udders tend to have smaller teat angles better for machine milking.

High positive coefficients of correlation were noted between milking time and yield (0.704), contrary to report of Casu *et al.* (2008), who found this correlation to be low, or Dzidic *et al.* (2004), who found them to be intermediary. Carta *et al.* (2000) found stronger individual correlation between these two traits. Machine milk yield was strongly affected by average and peak flow rate, analogous to result of Casu *et al.* (2008). Milk emission traits (peak and average milk flow) were favourably correlated among each other and with milk yield as in Casu *et al.* (2008), Marie-Etancelin *et al.* (2006), Dzidic *et al.* (2004), since physically a high milk quantity in the udder increases the level of intra-mammary pressure. Teat angle was positively correlated (0.743) with cistern height as was in Slovak dairy sheep, in Manchega and East Friesian (Mačuhova *et al.*, 2008; Rovai *et al.*, 1999; McKusick *et al.*, 1999). While Mačuhova *et al.* (2008) reported on correlation between teat angle and of

cistern height with milk yield, we did not observe it. Negative correlation of Alpha with Mt that was observed in Dzidic *et al.* (2004) was not found at all in Slovak sheep (Mačuhova *et al.* (2008) nor in our research. Additionally, correlation of Mt with Cis was not found in this research, which was also the case in Slovak dairy sheep.

Although there is no official selection of udder traits in Istrian sheep, differences between udder shape of ewes from farms that milk by hand and the farms that apply machine milking were found, indicating that there are different preferences of the owners. Herds that are machine milked have ewes with higher udder, teats that are more vertically implanted, and lower cisternal part below the teat orifice. There are no other studies of the similar comparison. Teat angle average and cistern height were smaller in machine milked ewes. BLUP value differences indicated that machine milked herds tend to have ewes with smaller cisternal part below the teat orifice that are of less udder height in the beginning of lactation and wider at the end of lactation, possibly due to selection of ewes that are milked more efficiently and easier.

# 6.4. Variability and structure of the Istrian sheep

A large number of markers was covered in this study and, with the exception of *ETH10*, all were highly polymorphic. We observed a clear deficit of heterozygotes, as reported in other sheep breeds (Lawson-Handley *et al.*, 2007). In the overall population, 13 of the 28 markers analysed had a significant deviation from HW equilibrium (Table 1). Except for *OarFCB128*, these markers showed no correlation to the occurrence of null-alleles, and can be explained by a reduced effective size of the flocks in the studied populations.

Although a comparison of the genetic diversity parameters described here with those reported in other populations is difficult because of different markers and sample sizes used, our results indicate values similar to those reported for the Balkan pramenka breeds (Ćinkulov *et al.*, 2008). In general, our analyses revealed higher within-breed variability than reported for selected breeds such as Sarda sheep, as expected for sheep populations which have not been highly pressured by selection (Arranz *et al.*, 2001; Pariset *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, we found that sheep genetic diversity in this south European region was not lost, with values fitting the pattern of radiation of genetic variation from the Near East hot-spot (Tapio *et al.*, 2010). For example, we found the MNA (range 6.03 - 8.6) to be in the range reported for Balkan pramenka breeds (Ćinkulov *et al.*, 2008) and alpine sheep breeds (Dalvit *et al.*, 2008).

However, it was lower than that reported for Greek (Ligda et al., 2009) and Turkish sheep breeds (Gutierrez-Gil et al., 2006).

Moderate genetic variation component estimated between the studied populations (5.29%) was similar to values reported for other Balkan sheep (Cinkulov et al., 2008), and somewhat higher than those reported for Greek breeds (Ligda et al., 2009). The low percentages of the variance explained by utility-wise (0.008, P<0.01) and geography-wise (0.006, P<0.05) grouping, compared to results reported in Indian sheep (Arora et al., 2011), suggest a low influence of specific selection strategies, but also a poor influence of the geographical isolation in the overall sampling area. The genetic differentiation estimates of pair-wise Fst index, complemented with the gene flow estimates, are in accordance with the results of the factorial correspondence and structure analyses, and consistent with the geographical distribution of the breeds, their history, and their breeding practices. The most recent threats to genetic variability of sheep populations include the Croatian War of Independence and the War in Bosnia and Herzegovina. The total number of sheep was almost halved. However, the island and peninsula breeds were not affected directly by war activities, as was the case with LIK, RUD, DAL, and the breeds from Bosnia and Herzegovina, which could have been exposed also to isolation breakage. Re-establishing of the studbooks after the war was performed by assigning the breed membership according to phenotypic appearance, similar as with other indigenous breeds in this area (Galov et al., 2013).

As reported in Ćinkulov *et al.* (2008), IST group can be considered as a distinct breed, but VLA is clustering with other Balkan pramenka populations. Factorial correspondence and structure analysis showed that LIK, CRE and IST are the most distinct groups. From the genetic point of view, the rest of the populations are closer together, with RUD, KRK and DAL showing certain differences. In Croatia, most of the breeds are isolated on the Mediterranean islands, and the one showing the largest genetic distance (LIK) is located in the mountain region. Although the factorial correspondence analysis shows IST as the third most distinct population, it is close to KRK, and its distinction is only identified when considering the third component. The number of migrant individuals estimated for the KRK-IST pair (9.35) is also visible in the structure results. However, we found that the KRK admixture was not widely spread, but limited to some of the IST samples and was explained more in the separate analysis of ISTs and ISTc samples. Additionally, IST had one of the higher numbers of private alleles, indicating that, due to samples with a lot of KRK admixture, distinctiveness of IST was probably underestimated. RAB and RUD showed firm clusters and distinction from the other studied sheep populations because of their isolation.

Namely, RAB is an island population, while RUD population is considered endangered (712 animals), isolated in the area on the furthest south of Croatia and bred for a different purpose (wool). The most poorly defined population among the eight groups from Croatia was DAL, and was also the only population in Croatia that showed connections to all four populations from Bosnia and Herzegovina. This is by far the largest population, covers areal along the Adriatic coast with some of the islands, and is sympatric with the other studied groups. The difference of results regarding the distinctiveness between populations sampled in Bosnia and Herzegovina and in Croatia could be the result of systematic recording and selection program implemented by the Croatian Agriculture Agency during several decades, complemented with clear geographical boundaries between the populations/breeds in Croatia. As reported for Baltic sheep (Tapio et al., 2005), four populations, sampled as traditional breeds in Bosnia and Herzegovina, do not equate to genetically distinct populations. According to the structure analysis and the Nm and Fst estimates reported here, the largest influence on other Bosnian populations comes from VLA, with status and distribution similar to DAL in Croatia. KUP was influenced by the largest number of the identified clusters and it is questionable how much of the initial diversity and specific adaptations to mountain environment remains in the KUP population proposed for "status nascendi" conservation efforts. Although, in order to have better milk and wool production, "hybridization programs" were established with PRI rams in KUP flocks, a higher influence is recorded from VLA (Palian et al., 1960). The most distinct among the Bosnia and Herzegovina populations was PRI, with a well-defined cluster showing minor admixtures and obvious influence from the sympatric VLA population.

According to Lawson Handley *et al.* (2007), the Weitzman's conservation approach, which favours the groups that clearly stand out in the factorial correspondence analysis (LIK, CRE and IST), or are differentiated in clusters showing unique genotypes (LIK, CRE and RAB), should be treated with caution. Likewise, it can be noted that this approach does not account for the within-group genetic diversity levels and the geographical structure that can be found in some breeds. Namely, LIK had the lowest diversity indicators, as was also reported by Ferencakovic *et al.* (2013) for mtDNA and chromosome Y diversity. The second most distinct population, CRE, had Ho somewhat higher than that observed for LIK, but other diversity indicators were quite low as well. Additionally, the same as in RUD, Ho being higher than He indicates suspicion regarding an isolate braking effect. Interestingly, Pavić *et al.* (2006) found lower He (0.6575) and higher Fis (0.094) in RUD, using 10 microsatellite markers on 44 animals, indicating a possible recovery of the population size in the recent five years. Contrary to LIK and CRE, the IST population showed reasonable distinctiveness and

favourable levels of diversity parameters. Nonetheless, the significant and relatively high estimated Fis, which is higher than reported for IST by Cinkulov et al. (2008) (0.011), indicates heterozygote deficiency, which might be caused by a population subdivision effect due to the sampling of animals in different locations. When the sampled IST subpopulations are analysed separately (Salamon et al., 2012), Fis values are lower. The Fis values for other sheep are similar to ones reported for Greek breeds (Ligda et al., 2009), and lower than those reported for Portuguese sheep (Santos-Silva et al., 2008). Unlike in IST, estimated Fis values in other populations are most likely caused by breeding practices carried out without knowledge regarding the genetic variants available in flocks of these populations. Artificial insemination is not used and, depending on the population, one ram is used per 17 to 33 ewes. The results of avoidance of mating the rams with their offspring are questionable, since there is no parentage assessment in any of the investigated breeds. As Pariset et al. (2003) noted, ram exchange policy provides gain of a very few genetic variants when the rams are exchanged between flocks with a similar genetic pool. In the Table 4, we presented small estimated sizes for the studied geographical groups, especially for RAB, IST and KRK. While Ćinkulov et al. (2008) estimated the highest Fis value among the analysed western Balkan pramenka breeds in Dubska sheep (aka VLA), we did not estimate significant Fis in this population.

Additionally, we report herein the first detailed analysis about the genetic structure of Istrian sheep populations, which has never been subject to this kind of analysis.

When ISTc and ISTs are compared, the range of mean number of rarefacted alleles was in the low levels of the range reported for Balkan pramenka type populations (Ćinkulov *et al.*, 2008) and lower than in Alpine (Dalvit *et al.*, 2008), Spanish (Rendo *et al.*, 2004), and Greek sheep (Ligda *et al.*, 2009), but higher than in Italian sheep (Bozzi *et al.*, 2009). Significant (P<0.05) inbreeding coefficients were found in all the populations except LIK. Estimated inbreeding coefficients (Fis) for populations across loci are within literature ranges, with the estimates being similar to values found in Greek breeds (Ligda *et al.*, 2009), and lower than in Portuguese sheep (Santos-Silva *et al.*, 2008).

The AMOVA analysis showed a significant and higher source of variation within (93.75%) than among (6.25%) populations. The Fst value (0.062, P<0.001) suggested a moderate genetic differentiation for the global population, similar to that reported in west Balkan sheep (Ćinkulov *et al.*, 2008) and somewhat higher than in Greek sheep breeds (Ligda *et al.*, 2009). On the contrary, ISTs showed little differentiation paired with IST and KRK populations. The highest gene flow was estimated for the ISTc-ISTs pair (16.96), and both of

these groups showed a considerably high estimate for the gene flow with the KRK sheep population.

Both the factorial correspondence analysis and the clustering-based structure analyses suggested the same results, with the identification of two genetically distinct populations within the Istrian sheep sampling groups analysed: one including the regional groups of ISTc and ISTs and the other one involving the LIK regional group. The substructure detected in ISTs and the clustering the great proportion of this sample associated to the KRK-related Cluster 3 requires explanation, while the two populations are not geographical neighbours. The number of individuals and the number of loci are similar to those in other studies reporting population structure analyses in sheep (Pariset *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, the amount of admixture and the extent of allele frequency differences among populations are the factors upon which the accuracy of probabilistic assignment of individuals to populations depends (Pritchard et al., 2000). There is a possibility that the allele frequencies are similar in Krk island sheep and Istrian sheep, as is inferred by the factorial correspondence result, because of their closer relatedness. The breeds' history shows that these northern-Adriatic breeds developed under similar circumstances in sub Mediterranean climate, unlike Lika pramenka sheep. However, since the admixture is present in a greater extent only in the ISTs population, this cannot be considered the only explanation. The studbooks for local breeds were reestablished after the Croatian War of Independence assigning breed membership according to phenotypic appearance, as was the case with other indigenous breeds in this area (Galov et al., 2013). Therefore, gene flow between the breeds as recent as the separation of the two subpopulations is possible. Since the preferred colour variety of Istrian sheep in Croatia is black, the phenotypic membership assignment could have been more successful than in Slovenia where the white variety of Istrian sheep was preferred. White colour is the only variety in Krk island sheep as well as in other local pramenka breeds in the area.

In this analyses, the LIK population was found to be the most distinct population at the genetic level. The factorial correspondence analysis also showed a clear separation of the KRK population from both populations of Istrian sheep. This observation confirms the previously reported results on pair-wise genetic distances, which showed that the distance of ISTc and ISTs from KRK were similar and greater than the distance between the two populations of Istrian sheep (Salamon *et al.*, 2012).

Although the present study has shown that there is not a marked genetic divergence between *ISTc* and *ISTs* populations, genetic distinctiveness is not the only criterion that should be used for conservation decisions. According to Rege and Gibson (2003), sociocultural contexts in which the breed exists and future economic goals rooted in functional diversity are important considerations as well.

The results provided in this thesis can be a start point for the future development of conservation program and policies focusing on decreasing identified admixture, eliminating estimated coefficients of inbreeding and preserving high allele numbers and private alleles.

### 7. CONCLUSIONS

# Istrian sheep has favourable milk production traits, excellent udder shape and good milkability.

Istrian sheep breed in Croatia has excellent udder shape for machine milking: desirable angle that teat closes with the vertical axis of the udder, and cisternal height below the teat orifice is small.

Average milk flow in Istrian sheep is appropriate, comparable to European dairy sheep, and supported by the conclusions on excellent udder shape. Peak flow rate in Istrian sheep is lower than in European dairy breeds.

Intrinsic factors influencing the peak flow rate, such as teat sphincter opening characteristics, can be improved through selection. However, environmental sources constant through lactation affecting the peak flow rate could be symptomatic of insufficient adaptation of milking setting or machine characteristics to the breed (type and shape of liners, diameters of milk lines and tubes, air entry flow), especially as the lactation stage advances and milk production declines.

The milking speed is expected to increase because of the correlated response of this trait with milk yield selection. Because better udder morphology at the farms applying machine milking was observed, it could be expected that those herds would also have improved milking kinetic traits.

Quantitative analysis of Istrian sheep production and life traits discovered marked potential in protein content trait and cisternal part below the teat orifice.

Istrian sheep breed is genetically distinct population of sheep with favourable diversity indicators, when compared to eastern Adriatic and western Dinaric sheep breeds. Additionally, predicted plasticity and heritability imply conserved genetic variability of udder shape traits.

Based on the study of genetic diversity among the 12 breeds studied, the Istrian sheep and Pag Island sheep breeds showed the highest level of genetic diversity, whereas the Lika pramenka and Rab Island sheep breed showed the lowest level of genetic diversity. The most differentiated populations were Cres Island sheep, Lika pramenka and Istrian sheep, whereas Dalmatian, Vlasic, Stolac pramenka and Krk Island sheep showed a large level of admixture. The study of the Istrian sheep populations from Croatia and the one from Slovenia, did not show a marked genetic divergence between them. Minor structure differences were observed between populations of Istrian sheep in Croatia and Slovenia.

#### 8. REFERENCES

- Ali AK and Shook GE 1980. An optimum transformation for somatic cell concentration in milk. J Dairy Sci 63, 487–490.
- Altincekic OS and Koyuncu M 2011. Relationship between udder measurements and the linear scores for udder morphology traits in kıvırcık, tahirova and karacabey merino ewes. J F Vet Med (University of Kafkas) 17(1), 71-76.
- Arora R, Bhatia S, Mishra BP and Joshi BK 2011. Population structure in Indian sheep ascertained using microsatellite information. Anim Genet 42, 242-250.
- Arranz JJ, Bayon Y and San Primitivo F 2001. Differentiation among Spanish sheep breeds using microsatellites. Genet Sel Evol 33, 529-542.
- Astruc JM, Barillet F, Carta A, Gabina D, Manfredi E and Moioli B 1995. Use of the animal model for genetic evaluation of dairy sheep and goats in several ICAR member countries. In: Proc. 29th Biennial Session of International Committee for Animal Recording (ICAR) Ottawa, Ontario, Canada. EAAP publication no. 75. Wageningen, Pers, Wageningen, the Netherlands; p. 271–275.
- Barać Z, Bedrica Lj, Čačić M, Dražić M, Dadić M, Ernoić M, Fury M, Horvath Š, Ivanković A, Janječić Z, Jeremić J, Kezić N, Marković D, Mioč B, Ozimec R, Petanjek D, Poljak F, Prpić Z and Sindičić M 2011. Green book of indigenous breeds of Croatia. Ministry of environmental and nature protection, State institute for nature protection, Croatian agriculture agency, National Park Krka, COAST, UNDP, GEF, Republic of Croatia, Zagreb, Croatia.
- Barreta J, Iñiguez V, Saavedra V, Romero F, Callisaya AM, Echalar J, Gutiérrez-Gil B and Arranz JJ 2012. Genetic diversity and population structure of Bolivian alpacas. Small Ruminant Res 105, 97-104.

- Barillet F, Marie C, Jacquin M, Lagriffoul G and Astruc JM 2001. The French Lacaune dairy sheep breed: use in France and abroad in the last 40 years. Livest Prod Sci 71(1), 17-29.
- Barone R. 1978. Mamelles de la brebis et de la chèvre. In: Anatomie comparée des mammifères domestiques. Tome III. Tixier J and Fils SA, Lyon, France. pp. 491-495.
- Baumung R, Simianer H and Hoffmann I 2004. Genetic diversity studies in farm animals a survey. J Anim Breed Genet 121, 361–373.
- Belkhir K, Borsa P, Chikhi L, Raufaste N and Bonhomme F 2002. GENETIX 4.04, Windows TM software for population genetics. Laboratoy Genome, Populations, Interactions: CNRS UMR 5000, Universite de Montpellier II, Montpellier, France. (in French).
  Available from <u>http://kimura.univ-montp2.fr/genetix/</u> (accessed Feb 18, 2012).
- Berger YM 2004. Breeds of sheep for commercial milk production. In: Proceedings of 10th Great Lake Dairy Sheep Symposium. Hudson, Wisconsin. University of Wisconsin-Madison. pp. 14–20.
- Bergonier D, de Cremoux R, Rupp R, Lagriffoul G and Berthelot X 2003. Mastitis of dairy small ruminants. Vet Res 34, 689-716.
- Boyazoglu J and Morand-Fehr P 2001. Mediterranean dairy sheep and goat products and their quality. A critical review. Small Ruminant Res Sedentary 40, pp.1.
- Bozzi R, Degl'Innocenti P, Riviera Diaz P, Nardi L, Crovetti A, Sargentini C and Giorgetti A 2009. Genetic characterization and breed assignment in five Italian sheep breeds using microsatellite markers. Small Ruminant Res 85, 50-57.
- Böhm O 2004. Sheep and goat husbandry in Primorje (the Slovenian littoral) between 1946 and 1952 (studied in the course of eradication of brucellosis, caused by B. melitensis, in order to better understand its epidemiology). Slovenian Vet Res 41(9), 95-123.
- Bradic M, Pavic V and Mioc B 2003. Genetic difference of some sheep breeds in the Republic of Croatia. In Book of Abstracts of the 54th Annual Meeeting of the European

Association for Animal Production (ed Y van der Honing), pp. 15. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands.

- Bradic M, Mioc B, Pavic V and Barac Z 2005. Pairwise comparison of mtDNA sequences in two Croatian sheep populations. In Book of abstracts of the 56th Annual Meeting of the European Association for Animal Production (ed Y van der Honing), pp. 97.
  Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Bradshaw AD 1965. Evolutionary significance of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Advances in Genetics 13, 115-155.
- Brka M, Muhamedagić S, Ivanković S, Vegara M, Rahmanović A, Dokso A and Zečević E 2007. Autochthones breeds of domestic animals in Bosnia and Herzegovina. In Proceedings of 1st Conference on Native Breeds and Plant Varieties as part of natural and cultural heritage, 13–16 November 2007, Šibenik, Croatia, pp. 35-36.
- Bruckmaier RM and Blum JW 1998. Oxytocin relase and milk removal in ruminants. J Dairy Sci 81, 939-949.
- Bruckmaier RM, Paul G, Mayer H and Schams D 1997. Machine milking of Ostfriesian and Lacaune dairy sheep: udder anatomy, milk ejection and milking characteristics, J Dairy Res 64, 163-172.
- Cadavez V, Silva A, Malovrh Š and Kovač M 2008. Modelling lactation curve in dairy sheep rose under extensive production system. In Proceedings. 43rd Croatian and 3rd International Symposium on Agriculture. Opatija.
- Cadavez V, Silva A, Malovrh Š and Kovač M 2012. Estimation of genetic parameters for dairy ewes using random regression animal model. Lucrări Științifice 55(16), 30-33.
- Caja G, Such X, Rovai M. 2000. Udder morphology and machine milking ability in dairy sheep. In: Proc. 6th Great lakes Dairy Sheep Symp., Guelph, Ontario, Canada. University of Wisconsin-Madison, WI.;p. 17–40.

- Cappio-Borlino A, Portolano B, Todaro M, Macciotta NPP, Giaccone P and Pulina G 1997. Lactation curves of Valle del Belice dairy for yields of milk, fat and protein estimated with test day models. J Dairy Sci 80, 3023–3029.
- Carta A, Casu S and Salaris S 2009. Invited review: Current state of genetic improvement in dairy sheep. J Dairy Sci 92(12), 5814-5833.
- Carta A, Casu S and Sanna S 2000. Preliminary analysis of kinetics of milk emission during machine milking in Sarda dairy sheep. In: Atti VIX Nat Congr SIPAOC (1), 199-202.
- Carta A, Sanna S and Casu S 1995. Estimating lactation curves and seasonal effects for milk, fat and protein in Sarda dairy sheep with a test day model. Livest Prod Sci 44, 37–44.
- Casu S, Fresi P and Carta A 2002. Estimation of the genetic parameters of udder traits in Sarda dairy sheep using a sire model with random contemporary groups. Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> World Congress on Genetics Applie to Livestock Production, Montpellier, France, Session 9 pp. 0-4.
- Casu S, Marie-Etancelin C, Robert-Granié C, Barillet F and Carta A. 2008. Evolution during the productive life and individual variability of milk emission at machine milking in Sardinian×Lacaune back-cross ewes. Small Ruminant Res 75, 7–16.
- Casu S, Pernazza I and Carta A 2006. Feasibility of a linear scoring method of udder morphology for the selection scheme of Sardinian sheep. J Dairy Sci 89, 2200–2209.
- Casu S, Sechi S and Caera A 2010. Phenotypic and genetic relationships between udder morphology and udder health in dairy ewes. Small Ruminant Res 88, 77-83.
- Coulon JB and Rémond B 1991. Variations in milk output and milk protein content in response to the level of energy supply to the dairy cow: A review. Livest Prod Sci 29, 31-47.
- Ćinkulov M, Popovski Z, Porcu K, Tanaskovska B, Hodžić A, Bytyqi H, Mehmeti H, Margeta V, Djedović R, Hoda A, Trailović B, Brka M, Marković B, Važić B, Vegara
M, Olsaker I and Kantanen J 2008. Genetic diversity and structure of the West Balkan Pramenka sheep types as revealed by microsatellite and mitochondrial DNA analysis. Anim Genet 125, 417–426.

- Dalvit C, Sacca E, Cassandro M, Gervaso M, Pastore E and Piasentier E 2008. Genetic diversity and variability in Alpine sheep breeds. Small Ruminant Res 80, 45-51.
- Dent AE and VonHoldt BM 2012. STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. Conservation Genetic Resources 4, 359-361.
- Draganescu C and Grosu H 2010. Valachian (Zackel) heritage philetic sheep group A taxonomic problem. DAGENE. Retrieved on 24 May 2012, from http://ebookbrowse.com/draganescu-and-grosu-dagene-2010-pdf-d58690637
- Druet T, Jaffrézic F and Ducrocq V 2005. Estimation of genetic parameters for test day records of dairy traits in the first three lactations. Genet Sel Evol 37, 257–271.
- Dzidic A 2013. Laktacija i strojna mužnja. Hrvatska mlijekarska udruga, Zagreb, Hrvatska.
- Dzidic A, Kapš M and Bruckmaier RM 2004. Machine milking of Istrian dairy Crossbreed ewes: udder morphology and milking characteristics. Small Ruminant Res 55, 183-189.
- Dzidic A, Šalamon D, Kaić A, Salajpal K and Kapš M 2009. Relationship between udder and milking traits during lactation in Istrain dairy crossbreed ewes. Ital J Anim Sci 8, 154-156.
- El-Saied UM, Carriedo JA and San Primitivo F 1998. Heritability of Test Day Somatic Cell Counts and Its Relationship with Milk Yield and Protein Percentage in Dairy Ewes. J Dairy Sci 81(11), 2956–2961.
- Excoffier L, Laval G and Schneider S 2005. Arlequin ver.3.0: an integrated software package for population genetics analysis. Evolutionary Bioinformatics Online 1, 47-50.

- Falconer DS and Mackay TF 1996. Introduction to Quantitative Genetics. Fourth edition. Addison Wesley Longman, Harlow, Essex, UK.
- FAO Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations 2011. Molecular genetic characterization of animal genetic resources. FAO Animal production and health guidelines. No. 9. Commission on genetic resources for food and agriculture, FAO, Rome, Italy.
- FAO 2004. Secondary guidelines for development of national farm animal genetic resources management plan, measurement of domestic animal diversity (MoDAD), recommended microsatellite markers, Rome, Italy.
- Ferencakovic M, Curik I, Royo LJ, Pérez-Pardal L, Cubric-Curik V, Fernández I, Álvarez I, Kostelic A, Sprem N, Krapinec K and Goyache F 2013. Mitochondrial DNA and Ychromosome diversity in East Adriatic sheep. Animal Genetics 44 (2), 184-192.
- Fernandez G, Alvarez P, San Primitivo F and De La Fuente L F 1995. Factors affecting variation of udder traits of dairy ewes. J Dairy Sci 78, 842-849.
- Fernandez G, Baro JA, De La Fuente LF and San Primitivo F 1997. Genetic parameters for linear udder traits of dairy ewes. J Dairy Sci 80, 601–605.
- De La Fuente LF, Fernández G and San Primitivo F 1996. A linear evaluation system for udder traits of dairy ewes. Livest Prod Sci 45, 171–178.
- De La Fuente LF, Gabiña D, Carolino N and Ugarte E 2006. The Awassi and Assaf breeds in Spain and Portugal. In Book of Abstracts of the 57th annual meeting of the European association for animal production (ed. Ynze van der Honing). Wageningen academic Publishers, Wagenbingen, The Nederlands.
- Fuertes JA, Gonzalo C, Carriedo JA and San Primitivo F 1998. Parameters of test day milk yield and milk components for dairy ewes. J Dairy Sci 81, 1300-1307.

- Galov A, Byrne K, Gomercic T, Duras L, Arbanasic H, Sindicic M, Mihelic D, Kovacic A and Funk SM 2013. Genetic structure and admixture between the Posavina and Croatian Coldblood in contrast to Lipizzan horse from Croatia. Czech Journal of Animal Science 58 (2), 71-78.
- Gelasakis AI, Arsenos G, Valergakis GE, Oikonomou G, Kiossis E and Fthenakis GC 2012. Study of factors affecting udder traits and assessment of their interrelationships with milking efficiency in Chios breed ewes. Small Ruminant Res 103, 232–239.
- Gilmour AR, Gogel BJ, Cullis BR and Thompson R 2009. ASReml. User Guide. Release 3.0. VSN International Ltd, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1ES, UK.
- Gootwine E, Alef B and Gadeesh S 1980. Udder conformation and its heritability in the Assaf (Awassi x East Friesian) cross dairy sheep in Israel. Ann Génét Sél Anim 12, 9-13.
- Guo SW and Thompson EA 1992. Performing the exact test of Hardy-Weinberg proportion for multiple alleles. Biometrics 48, 361-372.
- Gutiérrez JP, Legaz E and Goyache F 2007. Genetic parameters affecting 180-days standardised milk yield, test-day milk yield and lactation length in Spanish Assaf (Assaf.E) dairy sheep. Small Ruminant Res 70, 233–238.
- Gutierrez JP, Royo LJ, Álvarez I and Goyache F 2005. MolKin v2.0: A Computer Program for Genetic Analysis of Populations Using Molecular Coancestry Information. Heredity 96: 718-721.
- Gutierrez-Gil B, Uzun M, Arranz JJ, San Primitivo F, Yildiz S, Cenesiz M and Bayon Y 2006. Genetic diversity in Turkish sheep. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica A 56, 1-7.
- Haliburton R 2004. Introduction to population genetics. Pearson Education Inc., Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New York.

- Hamann H, Horstick A, Wessels A and Distl O 2004. Estimation of genetic parameters for milk production, somatic cell count and litter size at birth in East Friesian ewes. Livest Prod Sci 87, 153-160.
- HRN EN ISO 9622, 2001. Punomasno mlijeko Određivanje udjela mliječne masti, bjelančevina i laktoze. Uputstva za rad MID-infrared instrumentima. Hrvatski zavod za norme. Zagreb, Hrvatska.
- ICAR 2003. ICAR guidelines for approved by the general assembly held in Interlaken, 26-30 May 2002. Rome, Italy.
- Iñiguez L, Hilali M, Thomas DL and Jesry G 2009. Udder measurements and milk production in two Awassi sheep genotypes and their crosses. J Dairy Sci 92, 4613-4620.
- Ivanković A, Dovč P, Kavar T, Caput P, Mioč B, Pavić V, Štuhec V and Leto J 2005. Genetic characterisation of the Pag Island sheep breed based on microsatellite and mtDNA data. Small Ruminant Res 57, 167-174.
- Kalantzopoulos G 1994. Influence of somatic cells on milk and dairy products quality. In:Proceedings of the International Symposium on Somatic Cells and Milk of SmallRuminants, Bella, September 25-27, pp. 281-290.
- Karolyi D, Dzidic A, Salajpal K, Đikić M and Jurić I. 2007. Comparasion of two methods for longissimus muscle area measurements. In: Evaluation of carcass and meat quality in cattle and sheep. (Lazzaroni C. Gigli S, Gabina D, eds.) Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands. pp. 175-177.
- Komprej A, Gorjanc G, Kompan D and Kovač M 2009. Covariance components by a repeatability model in Slovenian dairy sheep using test day records. Czech J Anim Sci 54, 426-434.
- Komprej A, Gorjanc G, Kompan D and Kovač M 2012. Lactation curves for milk yield, fat, and protein content in Slovenian dairy sheep. Czech J Anim Sci 57(5), 231-239.

- Komprej A, Gorjanc G, Malovrh Š, Kompan D and Kovač M 2003. Genetic parameters with test-day model in Slovenian dairy sheep. In: Book of abstracts of the 54th Annual meeting of the European association for animal production, Rome (It.) (Y Van der Honig, A Hofer, G Zervas, E Von Borell, C Knight, C Lazzaroni, M Sneeberger, C Wenk, W Martin-Rosset, eds.), Wageningen Pres, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Komprej A, Malovrh Š, Gorjanc G, Kompan D and Kovač M 2013. Genetic and environmental parameters estimation for milk traits in Slovenian dairy sheep using random regression model. Czech J Anim Sci 58(3), 125-135.
- Kruuk LEB 2004. Estimating genetic parameters in natural populations using the 'animal model'. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 359, 873-890.
- Kukovics S, Molnar A, Abraham M, Nemeth T and Komilosi I 2006. Effects of udder traits on the milk yield of sheep. Arch Tierz, Dummerstorf 49(2), 165-175.
- Kulinová K, Mačuhova L, Uhrinčat M and Tančin V 2010. Milkability of the improved Walachian ewes during machine milking. Slovak J Anim Sci, 43, 128-133.
- Labuissière J 1988. Review of physiological and anatomical factors influencing the milking ability of ewes and the organisation of milking. Livest Prod Sci 18(3-4), 253-274.
- Lawson Handley L-J, Byrne K, Santucci F, Townsend S, Taylor M, Bruford MW and Hewitt GM 2007. Genetic structure of European sheep breeds. Heredity 99, 620–631.
- Legarra A and Ugarte E 2005. Genetic parameters of udder traits, somatic cell score, and milk yield in Latxa sheep. J Dairy Sci 88, 2238–2245.
- Lewis PO and Zaykin D 2001. Genetic Data Analysis: Computer Program for the Analysis of Allelic Data, Version 1.0 (d16c): 45 p. Available at:

http://www.eeb.uconn.edu/people/plewis/software.php, retrieval date: 24. 1. 2012.

- Ligda Ch, Altarayrah J, Georgoudis A and ECONOGENE 2009. Genetic analysis of Greek sheep breeds using microsatellite markers for setting conservation priorities. Small Ruminant Res 83, 42-48.
- Ligda Ch, Gabriilidis G, Papadopoulos Th and Georfoudis A 2000. Estimation of genetic parameters for production traits of Chios sheep using a multitrait animal model. Livest Prod Sci 66, 217-221.
- Ligda Ch, Mavrogenis A, Papadopoulos Th and Georgudis A 2002. Genetic parameters for test day milk traits and somatic cell counts in Chios dairy sheep. In: "Breeding programmes for improving the quality and safety of products. New traits, tools, rules and organization" IZSC, Sassari, Italy, 9-11 May 2002.
- Lynch M and Walsh B 1998. Genetics and Analysis of Quantitative Traits. Sinauer, Sunderland, MA.
- Mačuhová L, Uhrinčat M, Mačuhova J, Margetin M and Tančin V 2008. The first observation of milkability of the sheep breeds Tsigai, Improved Valachian and their crosses with Lacaune. Czech J Anim Sci 53(12), 528-536.
- Mačuhova L, Uhrinčat M, Mačuhova J and Tančin V 2011. Partitioning of milk accumulation in the udder of Tsigai, Improved Valachian and Lacaune ewes. In: Book of abstracts of the 62<sup>nd</sup> annual meeting of the European federation of animal science. Wageningen Academic Publishers. Waheningen. The Nederlands. pp. 51.
- Marcek JM and Swanson LW 1984. Effect of photoperiod on milk production and prolactin of Holstein dairy cows. J Dairy Sci 67, 2380-2388.
- Margetin M, Čapistrak A, Apolen D, Milerski M and Oravcova M 2011. Genetic parameters for chosen udder morphology traits in ewes. In: Book of abstracts of the 62<sup>nd</sup> annual meeting of the European federation of animal science. Wageningen Academic Publishers. Waheningen. The Nederlands. pp. 51.

- Marie-Etancelin C, Astruc J, Porte D, Larroque H and Robert-Granié C 2005. Multiple-trait genetic parameters and genetic evaluation of udder-type traits in Lacaune dairy ewes. Livest Prod Sci 97, 211–218.
- Marie-Etancelin C., Manfredi E, Aurel M, Pailler F, Arhainx J, Ricard E, Lagriffoul G, Guillouet P, Bibe B and Barillet F 2006. Genetic analysis of milking ability in Lacaune dairy ewes. Genet Sel Evol 38, 183–200.
- Marie-Etancelin C, Rupp R, Casu S, Carta A and Barillet F 2001. New objectives of selection related to udder health, morphology and milkability in dairy sheep. In: Book of abstracts of the 52<sup>nd</sup> Annual Meeting of the European Association for Animal Production, Budapest, Hungary, August 26–29, (Y van der Honing, ed), Wageningen Pres, Wageningen, The Netherlands. pp. 4.
- Marnet PG and McCusic BC 2001. Regulation of milk ejection and milkability in small ruminants. Livest Prod Sci 70, 125-133.
- Martinez ME, Calderon C, de la Barra R, De La Fuente LF and Gonzalo C 2011. Udder morphological traits and milk yield of Chilota and Suffolk Down sheep breeds. Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research 71(1), 90-95.
- Mayer H, Weber F and Segessemann V 1989. Oxitocin release and milking characteristics of Ostfresian and Lacaune dairy sheep. Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> international symposium on machine milking of small ruminants, Tel-Aviv. Israel.
- McKusick BC, Berger YM and Thomas DL 1999. Preliminary results: Effects of udder morphology on commercial milk production of East Friesian crossbred ewes. In: Proc. 5<sup>th</sup> Great lakes Dairy Sheep Symp. University of Wisconsin-Madison, Dept. Anim. Sci., and University of Vermont, Center for Sustainable Agriculture. pp 49–60.

- Milerski M, Margetin M, Čapistrak A, Apolen D, Španik J and Oravcova M 2006. Relationships between external and internal udder measurements and the linear scores for udder morphology traits in dairy sheep. Czech J Anim Sci 51(9), 383-390.
- Mioč B, Pavić V, Barać Z, Vnučec I, Prpić Z, Mulc D and Špehar M 2011. Program uzgoja ovaca u Republici Hrvatskoj / Breeding plans for sheep in the Republic of Croatia. Hrvatski savez uzgajivača ovaca i koza, Zagreb, Hrvatska.
- Mulc D, Jurković D, Duvnjak G, Sinković T, Daud J, Lješić N, Špehar M and Dražić M 2012. Annual report 2011: Breeding of sheep, goats and small animals. Croatian Agricultural Agency, Križevci.
- Oravcova M, Groeneveld E, Kovač M, Peškovičova D and Margetin M 2005. Estimation of genetic and environmental parameters of milk production traits in Slovak purebred sheep using test-day model. Small Ruminant Res 56, 113-120.
- Oravcova M 2007. Genetic evaluation for milk production traits in Slovakian Lacaune sheep. Slovak J Anim Sci 40(4), 172 -179.
- Oravcova M, Margetin M, Peškovičova D, Dano J, Milerski M, Hetenyi L and Polak P 2007. Factors affecting ewe's milk fat and protein content and relationships between milk yield and components. Czech J Anim Sci 52(7),189-198.
- Oravcova M, Margetin M, Peškovičova D, Dano J, Milerski M, Hetenyi L and Polak P 2006. Factors affecting milk yield ewe's lactation curves estimate with test-day models. Czech J Anim Sci 51(11), 483-490.
- Othmane MH, De La Fuente LF, Carriedo JA and San Primitivo F 2002. Heritability anf genetic correlations of test day milk yield and composition, individual laboratory cheese yield, and Somatic cell count for dairy ewes. J Dairy Sci 85, 2692-2698.
- Palian B, Nikolic T and Bagaric D 1960. Results of commercial crossing with sheep under extensive conditions of nutrition. Stocarstvo 14, 426-433.

- Pariset L, Savarese MC, Cappuccio I and Valentini A 2003. Use of microsatellites for genetic variation and inbreeding analysis in Sarda sheep flocks of central Italy. J Anim Breed Genet 120, 425–432.
- Park YW and Haenlein GFW 2006. Handbook of milk of non-bovine mammals. Blackwell Publishing. Iowa, USA.
- Pavić V, Bradić M, Mioč B, Ivanković A, Barać Z, and Safner T 2006. Use of molecular markers in sheep genotyoping. In Proceedings of 41st Croatian and 1st International Symposium on Agriculture (Eds S Jovanovac and V Kovačevič), pp. 639-640. Faculty of Agriculture in Osijek, Osijek, Croatia.
- Pollott GE, Gootwine E. 2004. Reproductive performance and milk production of Assaf sheep in an intensive management system. J Dairy Sci 87, 3690–3703.
- Posavi M, Ernoić M, Ozimec R and Poljak F 2003. Enciklopedija hrvatskih domaćih životinja. Katarina Zrinski, Varaždin, Croatia.
- Pritchard JK, Steephens M and Donnelly P 2000. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics 155, 945-959.
- Raymond M and Rousset F 1995. GENEPOP (version 1.2): population genetics software for exact tests and ecumenicism. J Hered 86, 248-249.
- Rege JEO and Gibson JP 2003. Animal genetic resources and economic development: Issues in relation to economic evaluation. Ecol Econ 45, 319–330.
- Rendo F, Iriondo M, Jugo BM, Mazon LI, Aguirre A, Vicario A and Estonba A 2004.Tracking genetic diversity and differentiation in six sheep breeds from the North IberianPeninsula through DNA variation. Small Ruminant Res 52, 195-202.
- Rovai M, Such X, Caja G and Piedrafita J. 2002. Milk emission during machine milking in dairy sheep. J Dairy Sci 80(1):5, 58.

- Rovai M, Such X, Piedrafita J, Caja G, and Pujol MR 1999. Evolution of mammary morphology traits during lactation and its relationship with milk yield of Manchega and Lacaune dairy sheep. In: Milking and milk production of dairy sheep and goats. F
  Barillet and NP Zervas (Eds.), EAAP Publication No. 95, Wageningen Pers.,
  Wageningen. pp. 107-109.
- Rupp R, Bergonier B, Dion S, Hygonenq MC, Aurel MR, Robert-Granié C and Foucras G
  2009. Response to somatic cell count-based selection for mastitis resistance in a
  divergent selection experiment in sheep J Dairy Sci, 92, 1203-1219.
- Rupp R, Lagriffoul G, Astruc JM and Barillet F 2003. Genetic parameters for milk somatic cell scores and relationships with production traits in French Lacaune dairy sheep. J Dairy Sci 86(4), 1476-81.
- Sagi R and Morag M 1974. Udder conformation, milk yield and milk fractionation in the dairy ewe. Ann Zootech 23, 185-192.
- Samaržija D, Antunac N, Pecina M and Havranek J 2003. Quality of artisanal hard cheeses produced in the Mediterranean area of Croatia. Milchwissenschaft 58(1/2), 43-46.
- Sanna SR, Carta A and Casu S 1997. (Co)variance component estimates for milk composition traits in Sarda dairy sheep using a bivariate animal model. Small Ruminant Res 25, 77-82.
- Santos-Silva F, Ivo RS, Suosa MCO, Carolino MI, Ginja C and Gama LT 2008. Assessing genetic diversity and differentiation in Portugese coarse-wool sheep breeds with microsatellite markers. Small Ruminant Res 78, 32-40.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2011. SAS® 9.3 System Options: Reference, Second Edition. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., USA.
- Scheiner SM 1993. Genetics and evolution of phenotypic plasticity. Annu Rev Ecol Sys 24, 35-68.

- Scheiner SM and Goodnight CJ 1984. The comparison of phenotypic plasticity and genetic variation in populations of the grass Danthonia spicata. Evolution (Lawrence, Kans.), 38, 1-14.
- Schultz LH 1977. Somatic cells in milk Physiological aspects and relationship to amount and composition of milk. J Food Protect 40, 125.
- Serrano M, Calvo JH, Martinez M, Marcos-Carcavilla A, Cuevas J, Gonzalez C, Jurado JJ and Diez de Tejada P 2009. Microsatellite based genetic diversity and population structure of the endangered Spanish Guadarrama goat breed. BMC Genetics [serial online], 10: 61. Available from http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2156/10/61 (accessed Nov 29, 2009).
- Serrano M, Perez-Guzman MD, Montoro V, Jurado JJ 2003. Genetic analysis of somatic cell count and milk traits in Manchega ewes – Mean lactation and test-day approach. Livest Prod Sci 84, 1-10.
- Serrano M, Perez-Guzman MD, Montoro V and Jurado JJ 2002. Genetic analysis of udder traits in Manchega ewes. Livest Prod Sci 77, 355-361.
- Serrano M, Ugarte E, Jurado JJ, Perez-Guzman MD and Legarra A 2001. Test day models and genetic parameters in Lataxa and Manchega ewes. Livest Prod Sci 67, 253-264.
- Sevi A, Albenzio M, Marino R, Santillo A and Muscio A. 2004. Effects of lambing season and stage of lactation on ewe milk quality. Small Ruminant Res 51, 251-259.
- Sevi A, Albenzio M, Taibi L, Dantone D, Massa S and Annicchiarico G 1999. Changes of somatic cell count through lactation and their effects on nutritional renneting and bacteriological characteristics of ewe's milk. Adv Food Sci 21, 121-127.
- Šalamon D, Gutierrez-Gil B, Kostelic A, Gorjanc G, Kompan D and Dzidic A 2012. Preliminary study on the genetic diversity of the Istrian sheep, Lika and Krk pramenka

sheep populations using microsatellite markers. Acta Agriculturae Slovenica 100 (3), 125-129.

- Špehar M, Barać Z, Kastelić M, Mulc D, Jurković D and Mioč B 2012. Genetic parameters for milk traits using fixed regression models for Istrian sheep in Croatia. EAAP- 63rd Annual Meeting, Bratislava.
- Tančin V and Bruckmaier RM 2001. Factor affecting milk ejection and removal during milking and suckling of dairy cows. Vet Med (Czech) 46, 108-118.
- Tančin V, Mačuhova L, Kovačik J, Kulinova K and Uhrinčat M 2009. Stability of milk flow kinetics in sheep during machine milking. Slovak J Anim Sci 42(1), 110-114.
- Tančin V, Mačuhova L, Oravcova M, Uhrinčat M, Kulinova K, Roychoudhury S and Marnet PG 2011. Milkability assessment of Tsigai, Improved Valachian, Lacaune and F1 crossbred ewes (Tsigai x Lacaune, Improved Valachian x Lacaune) throughout lactation. Small Ruminant Res 97: 28-34.
- Tapio M, Ozerov M, Tapio I, Toro MA, Marzanov N, Ćinkulov M, Goncharenko G,
   Kiselyova T, Murawski M and Kantanen J 2010. Microsatellite-based genetic diversity
   and population structure of domestic sheep in northern Eurasia. BMC Genetics 11, 76.
- Tapio I, Tapio M, Grislis Z, Holm LE, Jeppsson S, Kantanen J, Miceikiene I, Olsaker I, Viinalass H and Eythórsdóttir E 2005. Unfolding of population structure in Baltic sheep breeds using microsatellite analysis. Heredity 2005, 1-9.
- Vigouroux Y, Glaubitz JC, Matsuoka Y, Goodman MM, Sanchez GJ and Doebley J 2008. Population structure and genetic diversity of new world maize races assessed by DNA microsatellites. Am J Bot 95(10), 1240–1253.
- Vrdoljak J, Špehar M, Pavić V, Mioč B and Barać Z 2012. Utjecaj okolišnih čimbenika na dnevnu proizvodnju i kemijski sastav mlijeka istarskih ovaca. Mljekarstvo 62(2), 192-199.

- Wilmink JBM 1987. Adjustment of test-day milk, fat and protein yield for age, season and stage of lactation. Livest Prod Sci 16, 335–348.
- Wilson AJ, Réale D, Clements MN, Morrisey MM, Postma E, Walling CA, Kruuk LEB and Nussey DH 2009. An ecologist's guide to the animal model. J Animal Ecol 79, 13-26.

### 9. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

#### SUPPLEMENTARY 1

Dzidic A, Šalamon, D, Kaić, A, Salajpal, K, Kapš, M 2009. Relationship between udder and milking traits during lactation in Istrain dairy crossbreed ewes. Italian Journal of Animal Science 8, Supplement 3; 154-156. (IF=0.139)

### SUPPLEMENTARY 2

Salamon D, Gutierrez-Gil B, Kostelic A, Gorjanc G, Kompan D and Dzidic A 2012. Preliminary study on the genetic diversity of the Istrian sheep, Lika and Krk pramenka sheep populations using microsatellite markers. Acta Agriculturae Slovenica 100 (3), 125-129.

#### **SUPPLEMENTARY 3**

Salamon D, Gutierrez-Gil B, Arranz JJ, Barreta J, Batinic V, Dzidic A 2013. Genetic diversity and differentiation of 12 eastern Adriatic and western Dinaric native sheep breeds using microsatellites. Animal, doi:10.1017/S1751731113002243 (In press) (IF=1.648)

# **10. CURICULUM VITAE**

### EDUCATION

2008 - Current

Postgraduate Doctoral studies of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of agriculture, University of Zagreb

2000 - 2006

Master of Biology, University of Zagreb, Faculty of Science, Division of Biology

1996 - 2000 - Prva gimnazija Varaždin, Nature and Science program

1988-1996 - Elementary school Veliki Bukovec

## WORK EXPIRIENCE

2008 - Current - junior researcher at University of Zagreb, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of animal science

- Main project: Genotypic and environmental effects on milkability and udder morphology in sheep, by Alen Dzidic, financed by Ministry of Science, Education and Sports, ID: 178-1780460-0407

2007 - 2008 - Expert biologist-herpetologist at Croatian herpetological society-Hyla, Zagreb

2006 - 2007 - Aquaristics at Pet centar d.o.o., Zagreb

2005 - 2006 - Zoology collection guide at Croatian natural history museum, Zagreb

## BIBLIOGRAPHY AND ACTIVE PARTICIPATION IN CONFERENCES

Scientific publications

a1)

Dzidic A, Salamon D, Kaić A, Salajpal K, Kapš M 2009. Relationship between udder and milking traits during lactation in Istrian dairy crossbreed ewes. Italian Journal of Animal Science 8(3):154-156. (IF=0.139)

Salamon D, Gutierrez-Gil B, Arranz JJ, Barreta J, Batinic V, Dzidic A 2013. Genetic diversity and differentiation of 12 eastern Adriatic and western Dinaric native sheep breeds using microsatellites. Animal, doi:10.1017/S1751731113002243 (In press) (IF=1.648)

a2)

Salamon D, Matokovic I, Batinic V, Dzidic A 2011. The effect of prestimulation on milking characteristics in Simmental, Holstein-Friesian and Brown Swiss cow breed. Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus 76(4): 317-320.

Salamon D, Gutierrez-Gil B, Kostelic A, Gorjanc G, Kompan D and Dzidic A 2012. Preliminary study on the genetic diversity of the Istrian sheep, Lika and Krk pramenka sheep populations using microsatellite markers. Acta Agriculturae Slovenica 100 (3), 125-129.

#### Book

Jelić D., Kuljerić M., Koren T., Treer D., Šalamon D., Lončar M., Podnar-Lešić M., Janev-Hutinec B., Bogdanović T., Mekinić S. 2012. Red book of amphibians and reptiles of Croatia. (eds. Jelić D. and Oković P.) Ministry of Environmental and Nature Protection and State Institute for Nature Protection. Zagreb. Croatia.

#### International conferences

 Salamon D., Matokovic I., Batinic V., Dzidic A. The effect of prestimulation on milking characteristics in Simmental, Holstein-Friesian and Brown Swiss cow breed. 19th Animal Science Days, 19th to 23rd September 2011, Primošten, Croatia
 Tariba B., Kostelic A., Salajpal K., Roic B., Mulc D., Salamon D. Influence of infection with Caprine Arthritis Encephalitis Virus on milk production of French Alpine goats in Croatia. 19th Animal Science Days, 19th to 23rd September 2011, Primošten, Croatia
 Batinić V., Šalamon D., Dzidic A. Milk production and chemical composition of milk in Bosnia and Herzegovina autochtonous breeds. 46th Croatian & 6th International Symposium on Agriculture 14th - 18th February 2011, Opatija, Croatia
 Tariba B., Kostelic A., Roic B., Benic M., Salamon D. Prevalence of subclinical mastitis in French alpine goats with Caprine Arthritis Encephalitis Virus. IDF International Symposium on Sheep, Goat & other non-Cow Milk, 16th - 18th May 2011 Atens, Greece
 Šalamon D., Dzidic A. Milkability of autochthonous Istrian sheep in Croatia during machine milking. 2nd Conferene on Native Breeds and Plant Varietes as part of natural and cultural heritage with international participation. 22nd - 25th September 2010, Poreč, Croatia 6) Tariba B. Kostelić A., Roić B., Benić M., Šalamon D. Utjecaj virusa artritisa encefalitisa na učestalost subkliničkih mastitisa koza pasmine francuska alpina u Hrvatskoj/ Effect of caprine artrhitis encephalitis virus on frequency of subclinical mastitis of French alpine goats in Croatia. 39th Croatian symposium of dairy experts with international participation, 24th -27th October 2010, Opatija, Croatia

7) Dzidic A., Šalamon D., Kaić A., Salajpal K., Kapš M. Relationship between udder and milking traits during lactation in Istrian dairy crossbreed ewes. 17th international symposium Animal Science Days: Priorities for the European Animal Production in a Global Market, September 2009, Padua, Italy

8) Dzidic A., Šalamon D., Kaić A., Kapš M. Statistical analysis of milkability indicators and udder morphology during machine milking of sheep. 44th Croatian & 4th International Symposium on Agriculture, 16th - 20th February 2009, Opatija, Croatia

9) Koren T., Šalamon D.: Comparison of morphometry and algal growth of carapaces of two isolated Mauremys rivuata populations from two different types of habitat. 15th European congress of herpetology, 28th of September to 2nd of October 2009. Kusadasi, Aydin, Turkey 10) Strišković S., Radočaj M., Šalamon D.: Paspalum paspaloides evapotranspiration effect on water content in Mediterranean kastic pond – implications for management. 2nd European Congress of Conservation Biology, Czech University of Life Sciences 1st -5th September 2009, Prague, Czech Republic

11) Burić I., Basta J., Šilić T., Šalamon D. Assessing Anuran Biodiversity in Baranja region (Croatia) using local volunteers trained in amphibian audio monitoring and road kill determination. 2nd European Congress of Conservation Biology, Czech University of Life Sciences,1st -5th September 2009, Prague, Czech Republic

12) Šalamon D., Šilić T. Mauremys rivulata in Croatia: habitats, distribution, population parameters, threats to survival and suggestions for conservation. 1st Mediterranean
Herpetological congress, 16th - 20th April 2008, Marrakech, Morocco

13) Kuljerić M., Šilić T., Šalamon D. Herpetofauna of Croatia. 14th European congress of herpetology, 19th - 23rd September 2007, Porto, Portugal